
 
 
Bill Cullen MBA (ISM), BA(Hons) MRTPI 

Chief Executive 

 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-
bosworth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Members of the Scrutiny Commission 

 
 Cllr C Lambert (Chair) 

Cllr MJ Surtees (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr P Williams (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr DS Cope 
Cllr MJ Crooks 
Cllr C Gibbens 
 

Cllr C Harris 
Cllr J Moore 
Cllr A Pendlebury 
Cllr M Simmons 
Cllr A Weightman 
 

 
Copy to all other Members of the Council 
 
(other recipients for information) 
 
Dear member, 
 
There will be a meeting of the SCRUTINY COMMISSION in the De Montfort Suite, 
Hinckley Hub on THURSDAY, 9 MAY 2024 at 6.30 pm and your attendance is 
required. 
 
The agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Rebecca Owen 
Democratic Services Manager 
 

Date: 01 May 2024 

Public Document Pack



 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-
bosworth.gov.uk 
 

Fire Evacuation Procedures 
 

 On hearing the fire alarm, leave the building at once quickly and calmly by the 
nearest escape route (indicated by green signs). 

 

 There are two escape routes from the Council Chamber – at the side and rear. 
Leave via the door closest to you. 

 

 Proceed to Willowbank Road car park, accessed from Rugby Road then 
Willowbank Road. 

 

 Do not use the lifts. 
 

 Do not stop to collect belongings. 
 
 
Recording of meetings 

 
At HBBC we are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow 
recording, filming and photography at all public meetings including Council, the 
Executive and Planning Committee as long as doing so does not disturb or disrupt the 
proceedings. There may occasionally be some reports that are discussed in private 
session where legislation requires this to happen, but this is infrequent. 
 
We also allow the use of social media during meetings, which helps to bring the issues 
discussed to a wider audience. 
 
Members of the public, members of the press and councillors are hereby informed that, 
in attending the meeting, you may be captured on film. If you have a particular problem 
with this, please contact us so we can discuss how we may accommodate you at the 
meeting. 
 
 
Use of mobile phones 

 
To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, please switch off your phone 
or other mobile device or turn it onto silent or vibrate mode. 
 

Thank you 



 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-
bosworth.gov.uk 
 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION  -  9 MAY 2024 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

2.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2024. 

3.   ADDITIONAL URGENT BUSINESS BY REASON OF SPECIAL  
CIRCUMSTANCES  

 To be advised of any additional items of business which the Chair decides by 
reason of special circumstances shall be taken as matters of urgency at this 
meeting. 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive verbally from members any disclosures which they are required to 
make in accordance with the Council's code of conduct or in pursuance of Section 
106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  This is in addition to the need 
for such disclosure to be also given when the relevant matter is reached on 
the agenda. 

5.   QUESTIONS  

 To hear any questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12. 

6.   SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 5 - 10) 

 Work programme attached. 

7.   SCRUTINY REVIEW: UTILITY COMPANIES  

 Following the motion to Council in relation to future preparedness of utility 
companies and subsequent agreement of the Scrutiny Commission to pursue the 
resolution of Council, National Grid’s DSO Strategic Engagement Officer will be in 
attendance to update members on their work. 

8.   PARISH & HINCKLEY COMMUNITY INITIATIVE FUND ALLOCATION OF 
GRANTS 2023/24 (Pages 11 - 20) 

 To present the recommended allocation of the Parish & Community Initiative Fund 
and Hinckley Community Initiative Fund for 2024/25. 

9.   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME 2024-25 (Pages 21 - 30) 

 To outline the enhancement schemes to be implemented in 2024/25 under the 
Environmental Improvement Programme. 

10.   SOCIAL HOUSING REGULATION UPDATE - COMPLIANCE AND 
PERFORMANCE (Pages 31 - 78) 

 To advise members of the changes to legislation following the Social Housing 
Regulation Act 2023, update on progress in relation to compliance with the key 



 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-
bosworth.gov.uk 
 

areas and inform of the new inspection routine set out by the Regulator of social 
housing. 

11.   MINUTES OF FINANCE & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY (Pages 79 - 82) 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 March. 

12.   MINUTES OF THE HOUSING TASK & FINISH GROUP (Pages 83 - 84) 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 March. 

13.   ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DECIDES HAVE TO 
BE DEALT WITH AS MATTERS OF URGENCY  

 As announced under item 3. 

14.   MATTERS FROM WHICH THE PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED  

 To consider the passing of a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 excluding the public from the undermentioned item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Act. 

15.   CREMATORIUM UPDATE (Verbal Report) 

 To provide an update on the crematorium project. 

 



- 129 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

14 MARCH 2024 AT 6.30 PM 
 
PRESENT: Cllr C Lambert - Chair 
 Cllr MJ Surtees and Cllr P Williams – Vice-Chair 
Cllr MJ Crooks, Cllr C Gibbens, Cllr C Harris, Cllr J Moore, Cllr A Pendlebury, 
Cllr M Simmons and Cllr P Stead-Davis (for Cllr A Weightman) 
 
Officers in attendance: Chris Brown, Rachel Burgess, Amie Carroll, Lesley Keal, 
Rosemary Leach, Rebecca Owen and Sharon Stacey 
 

300. Apologies and substitutions  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Cope and 
Weightman, with the substitution of Councillor Stead-Davis for Councillor 
Weightman authorised in accordance with council procedure rule 10. 
 

301. Minutes  
 
It was moved by Councillor Crooks, seconded by Councillor Harris and 
 

RESOLVED – the minutes of the meeting held on 1 February be 
confirmed as a correct record. 

 
302. Declarations of interest  

 
No interests were declared. 
 

303. Scrutiny Commission Work Programme  
 
Members received the work programme. It was agreed that consideration would 
be given to bringing forward the review of bus services. 
 

304. Voluntary and community sector partnership update and commissioning 
outcomes 2022/23  
 
An update on the key achievements arising from the voluntary and community 
sector (VCS) partnership arrangements was provided. A representative of 
Hinckley Tennis Club, which had provided free tennis sessions for Ukrainian 
refugees, was in attendance to speak about the valuable work they had been 
able to carry out as a result of receiving the grant and working with the council. 
 
The warm spaces funding was also discussed and it was noted that learning from 
what worked well was used to inform the project. 
 

RESOLVED – the positive impact, outcomes and contribution of the 
voluntary and community sector and the direct commissioning of 
frontline service provision be noted. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

- 130 - 

305. Cost of living update  
 
The Scrutiny Commission was updated on work undertaken in respect of the cost 
of living crisis and support for those experiencing financial hardship. During 
discussion, reference was made to: 
 

 Warm welcome sessions 

 The increase in homelessness 

 Pressure on discretionary housing payments 

 The intention to increase work on food poverty 

 The increase in community kitchens funded by Cadent. 
 
Officers were thanked for their work to support residents. 
 

RESOLVED – the work undertaken and the increase in demand on 
services due to the cost of living crisis be noted. 

 
306. Safe spaces project  

 
Members were provided with an update on the safe spaces (previously entitled 
hoarding) project which was currently being evaluated. The good work and 
number of people supported was highlighted and testimonials were provided. 
Disappointment was expressed that the funding for the project was temporary but 
officers stated they were looking at ways of continuing the work. 
 

307. Adoption of new developments - Scrutiny review  
 
Members considered the scope for the review of adoption of new developments. 
It was suggested that specific reference should be made in the scope to 
interaction with parish councils. It was moved by Councillor Williams, seconded 
by Councillor Crooks and 
 

RESOLVED – 
 
(i) The review covers: 

 
a. Adoption of sustainable drainage systems and balancing 

ponds 
b. Open space management companies 
c. Adoption of roads 
d. Maintenance of public open space 
e. How to interact with parish councils in relation to the 

above points including providing learning and a route to 
transferring sites to them. 

 
(ii) A task & finish group be set up with the balance proposed in 

the report. 
 

Page 2



 

- 131 - 

308. Scrutiny review: utility companies  
 
Consideration was given to the scope of a review into preparedness of the utility 
companies for future growth. A member asked whether high speed broadband 
could be added to the list of areas to be considered, and it was agreed that it 
would be more appropriate to add this to the work programme as a separate 
issue. 
 

RESOLVED – representatives of Cadent Gas, National Grid and 
Severn Trent Water be invited to a future meeting of the Scrutiny 
Commission. 

 
 

(The Meeting closed at 7.41 pm) 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

 

 
Scrutiny Commission 

Work Programme 
2023-2027 

 
 
 

 

APRIL 2024 
  
 

 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 6



  

Date Issue 
(report author) 

Reason Outcomes Supports 
corporate 
aims 

     

9 May 2024 Parish & Community Initiative 
Fund allocations 
(Paul Scragg) 

Normal reporting pathway Recommendations to SLT 2 

Environmental Improvement 
programme 
(Daniel Britton) 

Annual report Consult with members 2, 3 

Social housing regulation 
(Maddy Shellard) 

Update on changes to legislation Awareness of new requirements 1 

Housing task & finish group 
feedback 
(Scrutiny review) 

Update on work of group  1, 2 

Utilities – future preparedness 
(Scrutiny review) 

Action motion to Council Assurance that the main utilities 
can cope with future development 

1, 2 

Crematorium update (private 
session) 
(Malcolm Evans) 

To update members Consult with members 3 

     

4 July 2024 Lack of GPs / dentists and 
Hinckley Hospital update 
(Scrutiny review) 

Request of members: matter of 
importance to residents 

Awareness of situation to be able 
to support and advise 

1 

HRA investment strategy (Ashley 
Wilson / Sharon Stacey) 

Scrutiny prior to Council decision Input into strategy All 

Utilities – future preparedness 
(Scrutiny review) 

Action motion to Council Assurance that the main utilities 
can cope with future development 

1, 2 

Housing task & finish group 
feedback 
(Scrutiny review) 

Update on work of group  1, 2 

Cashless society / digital poverty 
– scoping report 
(Scrutiny review) 

Request of members: matter of 
importance to residents 

Understand impact on 
businesses and residents but 
also benefits 

1, 3 

     

29 August 2024 Economic regeneration strategy 
(Steve Meynell) 

Annual report Briefing on outcomes 2, 3 

P
age 6



  

Date Issue 
(report author) 

Reason Outcomes Supports 
corporate 
aims 

Housing task & finish group 
feedback 
(Scrutiny review) 

Update on work of group  1, 2 

Utilities – future preparedness 
(Scrutiny review) 

Action motion to Council Assurance that the main utilities 
can cope with future development 

1, 2 

     

24 October 2024 Bus services / public transport 
(Scrutiny review) 

Request of members: impact on 
communities 

Understand and influence policy 1, 2 

Affordable housing delivery 
(Valerie Bunting) 

Annual report Awareness of delivery 1, 2 

Infrastructure funding statement 
(Kirstie Rea) 

Annual report Awareness of S106 contributions 
and allocations 

2 

Voluntary & Community sector 
partnership update and 
commissioning outcomes 
(Rachel Burgess) 

Annual update Awareness of VCS activity 1 

Housing review: final report 
(Scrutiny review) 

To consider the report of the task 
& finish group 

Recommendations to Executive 1, 2 

     

12 December 2024 Planning appeals update 
(Chris Brown) 

Annual report Monitoring of performance on 
appeals 

2 

     

February 2025 
(budget meeting) 

Budget reports 
(Ashley Wilson) 

Normal reporting pathway Scrutiny prior to Council decision All 

Pay policy statement 
(Julie Stay) 

Normal reporting pathway Scrutiny prior to Council decision All 

     

March / April 2025 Housing associations review 
(Scrutiny review) 

Request of members: matter of 
importance to residents 

Scoping of review 1, 2 

    

Parish & Community Initiative 
Fund allocations 
(Paul Scragg) 

Normal reporting pathway Recommendations to SLT 2 

     

P
age 7



  

Date Issue 
(report author) 

Reason Outcomes Supports 
corporate 
aims 

May / June 2025     

     

July / August 2025 Economic regeneration strategy 
(Steve Meynell) 

Annual report Briefing on outcomes 2, 3 

Environmental Improvement 
programme 
(Daniel Britton) 

Annual report Consult with members 2, 3 

     

September / 
October 2025 

Affordable housing delivery 
(Valerie Bunting) 

Annual report Awareness of delivery 1, 2 

Infrastructure funding statement 
(Kirstie Rea) 

Annual report Awareness of S106 contributions 
and allocations 

2 

Voluntary & Community sector 
partnership update and 
commissioning outcomes 
(Rachel Burgess) 

Annual update Awareness of VCS activity 1 

     

November / 
December 2025 

Planning appeals update 
(Chris Brown) 

Annual report Monitoring of performance on 
appeals 

2 

     

February 2026 
(budget meeting) 

Budget reports 
(Ashley Wilson) 

Normal reporting pathway Scrutiny prior to Council decision All 

Pay policy statement 
(Julie Stay) 

Normal reporting pathway Scrutiny prior to Council decision All 

     

March / April 2026     

Parish & Community Initiative 
Fund allocations 
(Paul Scragg) 

Normal reporting pathway Recommendations to SLT 2 

     

May / June 2026     

     

July / August 2026 Economic regeneration strategy 
(Steve Meynell) 

Annual report Briefing on outcomes 2, 3 

P
age 8



  

Date Issue 
(report author) 

Reason Outcomes Supports 
corporate 
aims 

Environmental Improvement 
programme 
(Daniel Britton) 

Annual report Consult with members 2, 3 

     

September / 
October 2026 

Affordable housing delivery 
(Valerie Bunting) 

Annual report Awareness of delivery 1, 2 

Infrastructure funding statement 
(Kirstie Rea) 

Annual report Awareness of S106 contributions 
and allocations 

2 

Voluntary & Community sector 
partnership update and 
commissioning outcomes 
(Rachel Burgess) 

Annual update Awareness of VCS activity 1 

     

November / 
December 2026 

Planning appeals update 
(Chris Brown) 

Annual report Monitoring of performance on 
appeals 

2 

     

February 2027 
(budget meeting) 

Budget reports 
(Ashley Wilson) 

Normal reporting pathway Scrutiny prior to Council decision All 

Pay policy statement 
(Julie Stay) 

Normal reporting pathway Scrutiny prior to Council decision All 

     

March / April 2027     

Parish & Community Initiative 
Fund allocations 
(Paul Scragg) 

Normal reporting pathway Recommendations to SLT 2 

     

 
 
To be programmed 
Regeneration strategy 2021-25 review 
Heritage strategy annual report 
 
Key to corporate aims 
1 – People 

P
age 9



  

2 – Places 
3 – Prosperity 

P
age 10



06/16 

 
 
Forward timetable of consultation and decision making 
 
Scrutiny Commission  9 May 2024 
 
Wards affected:   All Wards 
 
 

Parish and Hinckley Community Initiative Fund Allocation of Grants 2023/24 
 
 

Report of Director of (Corporate Services) 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 To request that the Scrutiny Commission endorses the allocation of the Parish 

and Community Initiative Fund and Hinckley Community Initiative Fund 
2024/25. 

 
2. Recommendation 
  

2.1 That the scrutiny Commission endorses the funding allocations of £91,892 for 
the schemes as detailed in section 3.3.  

 
2.2 That the Scrutiny Commission supports allowing 7 previous years schemes 

totaling £11,374.60 to be completed and continue to be funded as detailed in 
section 3.4 

 
3. Background to the report 
 
3.1 Since 2005 the Parish Community Initiative Fund and Hinckley Community 

Initiative Fund have distributed £1,830,950 towards 456 local parishes or 
voluntary organisation schemes.  

 
3.2 In 2023/24 the scheme received 35 applications from across the Borough and 

a total of £90,383 was awarded to 21 schemes. 
 
3.3      Applications for 2024/25: 

 
The table in Appendix 1 of this report provides an objective scoring summary 
from the assessments made of all the applications by the following Officers: 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



06/16 

Ian Pinfold – Green Space Manager, Paul Scragg – Senior Green Space 
Officer, Gary Upton- Housing Repairs Manager, Graham Chilvers – Health 
and Recreation Manager, Danielle Leggett – Climate Reduction and Climate 
Change Officer, Paul Grundy – Senior Planning Officer (Conservation and 
GIS) 
 
The assessment panel then determined which applications they felt should be 
awarded grant funding. This panel consisted of Caroline Roffey Head of 
Street Scene Services, Ian Pinfold – Green Space Manager, Amie Carroll – 
Senior Anti-Social Behaviour Officer, Paul Scragg – Senior Green Space 
Officer, Gary Upton- Housing Repairs Manager, Graham Chilvers – Health 
and Recreation Manager, Danielle Leggett – Climate Reduction and Climate 
Change Officer, Paul Grundy – Senior Planning Officer (Conservation and 
GIS) 
 
The grant will fund a maximum of 50% of the project costs. Each applicant 
must seek support from their Parish Council and Borough Councillor. Only 
capital items over £5,000 in value are funded and the lowest submitted quote 
has been used to calculate the maximum eligible grant, unless a good reason 
has been provided for using a higher quote. Each application has been scored 
individually against the criteria by 2 officers and an average score given.  
 
To reflect the scale and cost of some climate change projects, it was agreed 
after a review in 2023 that the maximum grant award will be increased to 
£20,000 / 50% of project costs. This increased grant size would overrule the 
£12,000 per parish limit and would only be applied for significant carbon 
reduction projects. 
 
13 applications have been received requesting a total of £102, 610. 

 
Based on the information in Appendix 1 the assessment panel recommends 
funding the following schemes totalling £91,892. This includes £4,225 for 
HCIF schemes. (Applications are set out in alphabetical order by parish and 
parish name is given in brackets). 

 
1. Community Outdoor Gym – Barwell Parish Council (Barwell). Outline: The 

installation of 8 x items of outdoor gym equipment at Barwell Park. £4,797.  
 

2. Chapel House Restoration and preservation Projects – Market Bosworth Free 
Church (Market Bosworth) 
Outline: The installation of damp proofing, the eradication of woodworm and 
redecoration of the Chapel House for use as a community building. £3,692.  
 

3. Replacement Aerator – Market Bosworth Bowling Club (Market Bosworth) 
Outline: The purchase of a new aerator to ensure quality maintenance of the 
greens. £3,823. 

 
4. Swimming Pool Filtration System Upgrade – Bosworth Academy Trust 

(Desford) 

Page 12



06/16 

Outline: The replacement of the swimming pool filter for the school and 
community swimming pool. £10,047 

 
5. Project Net Zero – Sport in Desford (Desford) 

Outline: The installation of air source heat pumps and solar panels at the 
sport in Desford facility. £20,000 

6. Improvement works at Hurst Road Play Area – Earl Shilton Town Council 
(Earl Shilton).  
Outline: The installation of new items of play equipment at the play area. 
£2,554  
 

7. Baptist Church landscaping scheme – LBC Earl Shilton (Earl Shilton) 
Outline: Landscaping in outside area at Earl Shilton Baptist Church. £9,446 

8. Trinity Community Church Youth and Children’s Room – Trinity Community 
Church (Hinckley Castle) 
Outline: 4 x new windows and the refurbishment of the children’s and youth 
space at Trinity Community Church, Wesley House. £4,225 * 

 
9. Church Meadow Power Supply – Nailstone Parish Council (Nailstone) 

Outline: The installation of a mains electricity supply to Church Meadow in 
Nailstone to facilitate further community events that require a power supply. 
£5,552 
 

10. Solar Panels – Sheepy Memorial Committee (Sheepy) 
Outline: The installation of solar panels at sheepy Village Hall. £3,759  

 
11. Car park Extension – Stoke Golding Parish Council (Stoke Golding) 

Outline: The extension of the car park at Hall Drive recreation ground for park 
users and for users of the village hall. £9,332  

 
12. Disabled WC/Shower Facility – Without Walls Church (Stanton-under-Bardon) 

Outline: The installation of a new disabled WC and shower facility within the 
church building. £8,875.  

 
13. Improvements to Community Area – DCC Orton-on-the-Hill (Twycross) 

Outline: Repairs to the porch area of the church building and the 
reconfiguration of the internal area to create a community function area. 
£5,790. 
 

 *Hinckley CIF schemes funded from Special Expenses total £4,225 

 
3.4 Previous Years’ Applications 
 

There are 5 applications totalling £8,799 which were approved in 2022 and 
2023 where the projects have been delayed. These projects will be completed 
in 2024/25. The projects are: 
 

1. Mobile Vehicle Activated Signs – Peckleton Parish Council (Peckleton) 
Outline: The installation of a mobile vehicle activated sign in Kirkby Mallory. 
£2,000.  

Page 13



06/16 

 
2. Information boards and heritage signs – Peckleton parish Council (Peckleton) 

Outline: The installation of information boards telling the history of Kirkby 
Mallory. £673. 

 
3.  New internal porch – St Margaret’s Church (Stoke Golding) 

Outline: The installation of an oak framed double glazed interior porch. 
£5,358. 
 

4. Shenton lighting – Sutton Cheney Parish Council (Sutton Cheney) 
Outline: The conversion of 4 heritage lights in Shenton to more energy 
efficient LED lanterns. £558. 
 

5. Enhanced Planting around the Village – Sutton Cheney Parish Council 
(Sutton Cheney) 
Outline: Planting around the 4 gateway areas across the village of Sutton 
Cheney. £210. 

 
A further 2 further projects totalling £2,575.60 - Streetlight improvement 
schemes at Sutton Cheney and Peckleton have been completed, however 
the applicants have agreed to pay the contractor over a 5 year period. It has 
therefore been agreed that these grants will also be paid over a 5 year period 
on receipt of an invoice from the contractor. Outstanding amounts for these 2 
applications are Sutton Cheney £1,339.60 and Peckleton £1,236. 

 
4. Exemptions in accordance with the Access to Information procedure 

rules 
 
4.1 This report will be taken in open session. 
 
5. Financial implications (IB) 
 

5.1 The allocation of £91,892 for 2024/25 will be funded from £134,000 set aside 
in the capital programme which includes £10,000 for HCIF schemes.  

 
5.2 For 2023/24 schemes, £11,374.60 will be carried forward to fund the delayed 

projects. 
 
6. Legal implications (ST) 
  
6.1  None 
 
7. Corporate Plan implications 
 

7.1 The Parish & Community Initiative fund supports parishes and community 
groups to achieve the following aims and objectives of the Corporate 
Performance Plan: 
-  Creating a vibrant place to work and live 
- Empowering Communities 
- Providing value for money and pro-active services 

Page 14



06/16 

8. Consultation 
 

8.1 Scrutiny Commission is consulted as part of the decision to agree grant 
applications. 

 
8.2 A review of the scheme was carried out in 2020 and a number of 

amendments were agreed. 
 
9. Risk implications 

 
9.1 It is the council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks 

which may prevent delivery of business objectives. 
 

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will 
remain which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion 
based on the information available, that the significant risks associated with 
this decision / project have been identified, assessed and that controls are in 
place to manage them effectively. 
 

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were 
identified from this assessment: 

 

Management of significant (Net Red) risks 

Risk description Mitigating actions Owner 

The projects rely on third party 
delivery and there is therefore a 
risk that some of the projects may 
not be delivered 

Only projects that are 
likely to be completed in 
the following 12 months 
are recommended for 
funding 

Paul 
Scragg 

Certain projects have conditions 
attached. 

Applicants are required to 
meet condition, before 
final grant is awarded. 

Paul 
Scragg 

Misuse of funds Funding for projects is 
only released once 
scheme is completed and 
evidence of completion 
and payment of the works 
is received. 

Paul 
Scragg 

 
10. Knowing your community – equality and rural implications 

 
10.1 All grants are awarded to the rural areas, and parish council support is sought 

for each application. 
 
10.2 Equalities issues are considered as part of the assessment process. 
 
  

Page 15



06/16 

11. Climate implications 
 
11.1 The recommendations for proposed changes to the scheme include an 

increase in scoring for environmental projects which have a positive effect on 
the climate. 

 
11.2 The sustainability of each projects is consider during the assessment process 

and is scored accordingly. 
 

12. Corporate implications 
 
12.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into 

account: 
 

- Community safety implications 
- Environmental implications 
- ICT implications 
- Asset management implications 
- Procurement implications 
- Human resources implications 
- Planning implications 
- Data protection implications 
- Voluntary sector 

 
 
 
Background papers:  Appendix 1 attached 
 
Contact officer:   Paul Scragg - Senior Green Space Officer x5983 
 
Executive member:   Cllr M Cartwright – Executive Member for Rural Affairs 
 

Page 16



06/16 

Appendix 1 
 

Name of 
Scheme 

Parish Max Eligible 
Grant 

Total 
Scheme 
Cost 

Amount 
of Grant 
Applied 
for 

Assessed 
by 

Average 
Score 

Amount 
recommended for 
award and 
Assessor 
Recommendation  

Community 
Outdoor Gym 
Equipment 
 

Barwell £4,797 £9,594 £4,797 IP/PS 77.5 £4,797 

Swimming Pool 
Filtration System 
upgrade 
 

Desford 10,0047 £20,095 £10,047 GC/PS 60 10,047. Based on 
cheapest quote 
and that they can 
reclaim VAT 

Project Net Zero. 
Sport in Desford 
 

Desford £20,000 £94,626 £20,000 GU/DL 77.5 £20,000 Not all 
funding currently 
in place.  

Hurst road play 
area 
improvements 
 

Earl 
Shilton 

£3909 £7819 £3909 PS/IP 72.5 £2,554 based on 
lowest quotes 

Baptist Church 
landscaping 
scheme 
 

Earl 
Shilton 

£12,000 £37,000 £12,000 GC/PS 62.5 £9,446. Scored 
lower than other 
earl Shilton 
application, Fund 
remainder of 
parish allocation 

Trinity 
Community 
Church Youth 

Hinckley £4,225 £8,450 £4,225 PG/GU 67.5 £4,225 

P
age 17



06/16 

and Childern’s 
room 
 

Chapel House 
Restoration and 
preservation 
project 

Market 
Bosworth 

£12,000 £25,000 £5,000 GU/PG 77.5 £3,692. No 
quotes have been 
submitted for 
carpentry works. 
Recommended 
grant award is for 
50% of lowest 
damp course 
quote. 

Replacement 
Aerator 

Market 
Bosworth 

£4,588 £9,177 £4,500 IP/GC 70 £3,823. Based on 
figures supplied 
in breakdown of 
funding which is 
less than 50% of 
lowest quote 

Church meadow 
Power Supply  
 

Nailstone £5,551.70 £11103.50 £5551.70 GC/IP 75 £5,552. Only 1 
quote option 
works carried out 
by national grid. 

Solar panels for 
Sheepy Village 
hall 

Sheepy  £10,509 £21,018 £3,759 DL/GU 95 £3,759. Not used 
lowest quote. 

Construct new 
Disabled WC 
facility 

Stanton 
Under 
Bardon 

£8,875 £17,750 £8,875 GU/PG 70 £8,875. Building 
regs approval 
confirmed. Check 
it is fully DDA 
compliant. 

Car park 
extension 

Stoke 
Golding 

£12,000 £30,315 £12,000 PS/IP 65 £9,332. Based on 
the lowest 

P
age 18



06/16 

 quotes. Awaiting 
Planning 
permission 
confirmation. 

Improvements to 
Community Area 
St Edith’s 
Church 

Twycross £5,790 £11,581 £5,790 PG/GU 70 £5,790. Other 
grant funding not 
yet in place. 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



06/16 

 
 
Forward timetable of consultation and decision making 
 
Scrutiny    9 May 2024 
 
Wards affected:   All Wards 
 
 

Environmental Improvement Programme for 2024/25 
 
 

Report of Director (Community & Development Services) 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 This report outlines the Environmental Improvement Programme for 2024/25. 

 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That Scrutiny notes the enhancement schemes (Appendix 1) to be 

implemented in the financial year 2024/25 as the Environmental Improvement 
Programme.  

 
3. Background to the report 
 
3.1 The Borough Councils Environmental Improvement Programme consists of 

small-scale heritage/conservation related improvement schemes across the 
whole Borough. The fund aims to improve the heritage/conservation built 
environment and increase understanding and awareness of important local 
history. The schemes can be stand-alone, others contribute towards larger 
comprehensive projects. Examples of the types of projects include heritage 
trail information boards, repairs to walls, blue plaques and installation of 
heritage nameplates. This year’s programme aims to continue the practice to 
implement schemes identified in the Council’s Conservation Area 
Management Plan Reviews and provide a good distribution of projects 
throughout the borough, both in the urban and rural areas. Match funding is 
sought where appropriate.  

 
3.2 If partners agree to make financial contributions towards projects, as 

anticipated, it will be possible to finance the 12 schemes identified in 
Appendix 1. The 12 schemes have an overall estimated cost of £177,348.04. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



06/16 

After taking account of external contributions the net cost to the Council will 
be £34,970.02 which is within the £35,000 available budget.   

 
3.3 Appendix 2 outlines the progress made on the projects included in the 

2023/24 programme. A further Appendix 3 presentation provides photographs 
of the 2023/24 projects.  

  
3.4 Guidelines for prioritising schemes are set out below:  

a) Implement schemes identified in the Authority’s Conservation Area 
Management Plan Reviews 

b) Enhances the historic environment 
c) Increases understanding and interpretation of heritage 
d) Complete or complement schemes undertaken in previous year’s 

programmes 
e) Be implemented on publicly-owned or private accessible land 
f) Be in areas which have not yet benefited significantly in previous years' 

programmes 
 
4. Exemptions in accordance with the Access to Information procedure 

rules 
 
4.1 This report is to be taken in open session. 

 
5. Financial implications [CS] 

 
2024/25 

5.1 Details of schemes and associated costs and income are attached in 
Appendix 1. The estimated cost to the Council for 2024/25 schemes is 
£34,970 compared to an approved net budget of £35,000.  

 
 2023/24 
5.2 A carry forward will be requested for any schemes that are not completed by 

the end of March 2024.  
 
6. Legal implications [MR] 

 
6.1 The Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do anything that individuals 

generally may do including for the benefit of its area or for persons resident or 
present in its area.  

 
7. Corporate Plan implications 

 
7.1 This report contributes to the following priorities of the Council;  

 Places - Creating clean and attractive places to live and work 

 Prosperity- Encouraging growth, attracting businesses, improving skills 
and supporting regeneration.  

 
  

Page 22



06/16 

8. Consultation 
 

8.1 Consultations will take place on each project on an individual officer basis with 
parish councils and other interested parties. 
 

9. Risk implications 
 

9.1 It is the council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks 
which may prevent delivery of business objectives. 
 

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will 
remain which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion 
based on the information available, that the significant risks associated with 
this decision / project have been identified, assessed and that controls are in 
place to manage them effectively. 
 

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were 
identified from this assessment: 

 

Management of significant (Net Red) risks 

Risk description Mitigating actions Owner 

None   

 
10. Knowing your community – equality and rural implications 

 
10.1 Projects put forward in the Environmental Improvement Programme are 

generally spread over the whole of the Borough and includes the rural area. 
 
10.2 It is considered that this report will not have any effect on equality for any of 

the protected characteristics and therefore no further analysis or action is 
necessary. 
 

11. Climate implications 
 
11.1 We consider climate implications in all initiatives related to the Environmental 

Improvement Programme, for example, when new heritage lighting is installed 
this is now done with LED lighting. Many projects are for repair and look to 
reuse appropriate materials where possible.  
 

12. Corporate implications 
 
12.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into 

account: 
 

- Community safety implications- yes, improving lighting and the 
environment will contribute reducing the fear of crime and disorder 

- Environmental implications- yes, protecting and enhancing the Borough’s 
Heritage 

- ICT implications- none directly arising from this report 
- Asset management implications- none directly arising from this report 

Page 23



06/16 

- Procurement implications- none directly arising from this report  
- Human resources implications- none directly arising from this report 
- Planning implications- permissions sought where required 
- Data protection implications- none directly arising from this report 
- Voluntary sector- conservation volunteers used where appropriate on 

schemes. 
 
 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Contact officer:  Daniel Britton, 01455 255872 
Executive member:  Councillor S Bray 

Page 24



Location 

Ward/Parish   
Scheme Remarks Key Partner

Net Cost to 

HBBC

Estimated Cost 

of Project 

Boroughwide 

Project

Financial contributions for the 

Borough's conservation areas 

towards the reinstatement of 

traditional features

This project is proving successful in helping to retain / provide 

traditional features in the Borough's conservation areas and 

historic environment

Parish Council / 

Church / Heritage 

Group / HBBC / 

Other

£3,000.00 £6,000.00

Boroughwide Blue Plaque Working with Hinckley and District Museum representatives 

on the installation of two Blue Plaques 

HBBC
£1,000.00 £1,000.00

Ashby Canal Nutts Lane Bridge The project involves a contribution towards new brick work 

and brick work repairs to Nutts Lane Bridge, Hinckley

The Canal & River 

Trust £10,000.00 £136,500.00

Osbaston Heritage Street Nameplates The Parish Council plan to install phase 2 of the heritage 

street nameplates in the conservation area

Parish Council
£1,457.50 £2,915.00

Stoke Golding Gravestone Repairs The Parish Council have identified a phase of gravestone 

requiring repair in churchyards and cemeteries 

Parish Council

£1,000.00 £2,000.00

Earl Shilton Toon Clock Restoration The project involves a contribution towards the restoration of 

the Alfred Toon clock in Earl Shilton

Barwell & Earl 

Shilton Lions Club
£1,546.00  £3,092  

Barwell Chapel Repairs The Parish Council plan to carry out repairs to both the 

Chapels in Barwell Cemetery

Parish Council
£1,325.00 £2,650.00

Barwell War Memorial Restoration The Parish Council plan restoration works to Barwell War 

Memorial 

Parish Council
£1,200.00 £2,400.00

Barlestone Heritage Information Boards The Parish Council plan to install two information boards 

outlining the heritage of two areas in the village

Parish Council
£2,546.40 £5,092.80

Hinckley Jitties Signage Following a previous project the project aims to install two 

hanging signs naming the remaining Jitties on Regent Street

HBBC
£5,000.00 £5,000.00

Burbage Gravestone Repairs The project involves a contribution to the heritage group to 

repair gravestone in St Catherines churchyard

Burbage Heritage 

Group
£1,004.00 £2,008.00

Fenny Drayton Phone Box Refurbishment The Parish Council plan the restoration of a K6 telephone box 

in the village

Parish Council
£2,685.12 £5,370.24

Stanton Under 

Bardon

Village Sign The Parish Council plan to install a village sign in the centre of 

the village depicting the history and heritage of the local area 

and to encompass the identity of the village 

Parish Council

£3,206.00 £6,412.00

Total Expenditure £34,970.02 £177,348.04

Appendix 1 - 2024-25 Environmental Improvement Programme

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Location Scheme Remarks Status

Boroughwide Blue Plaque The installation of Blue Plaques to mark Sir John David 

McClure and Rev Matthew Henry Buckham

Project 

Completed

Burbage Heritage Style 

Information Board

The Parish Council installed a heritage style information 

board at Far Lash Open Space detailing history of the site

Project 

Completed

Desford Bridge 37 Wellsborough 

Bridge

This project involved a contribution towards brickwork 

repairs, new brick work and new coping stones on Bridge 

37 Wellsborough Bridge

Project 

Completed

Osbaston Heritage Street 

Nameplates

The Parish Council plan to install heritage street 

nameplates in the conservation area over two phases

Project 

Completed

Boroughwide Interpretation Panels- 

Bosworth 1485

Interpretation panels will be installed at seven locations as 

part of the Bosworth1485 Sculpture Trail 

Project 

Ongoing

Fenny Drayton George Fox 

Interpretation 

Working with Hinckley Archaeology Society and Quakers 

to install a George Fox interpretation board 

Project 

Ongoing

Hinckley Yards and Jitties 

Interpretation

Interpretation panel to be installed detailing the heritage of 

Hinckley Town Centre Yards and Jitties 

Project 

Ongoing

Desford Heritage Trail 

Information Boards and 

Leaflet

Building on the success of the recent Desford Heritage 

Trail project the Parish Council plan to install a further 3 

heritage boards and produce an accompanying trail leaflet

Project 

Ongoing

Hinckley Yards and Jitties 

Archway Signage

This project involved a contribution towards Heritage 

Action Zone project to install four archway signage 

naming the Yards and Jitties

Project 

Completed

Market Bosworth Market Bosworth District 

Coat of Arms

The Parish Council planed to refurbish and reposition the 

Market Bosworth District Coat of Arms however due to too 

many risks involved decided not to proceed

Project 

Ended

Higham on the Hill Heritage Information 

Board 

Contribution towards village heritage information board at 

St Peter's Church, Higham on the Hill 

Project 

Ongoing

Shenton Shenton War Memorial The Parish Council refreshed the area around Shenton 

War Memorial

Project 

Completed

Bilstone Gibbet Post Repairs Following a condition survey works were undertaken to 

repair and maintain the gibbet post

Project 

Completed

Appendix 2 - End of year progress report on the Environmental Improvement Programme 2023-24

P
age 27



Sheepy Magna Memorial Bench The Sheepy Memorial Hall installed a memorial bench 

honouring the memory of fallen of the Parish

Project 

Completed

Hinckley Memorial Plaque Working with green spaces a to install a Margery Payne 

commemorative plaque in Argents Mead

Project 

Completed

P
age 28



12/04/2024

1

Appendix 3- Environmental 
Improvement Programme 

2023/24

Headlines

• Environment Improvement Programme 
2024/25- Looking to support 12 schemes 
with a net cost to this Authority of 
££34,970.02.

• Environmental Improvement Programme 
2023/24- supported a total of 13
schemes- Some photographs of these are 
available on the following slides. 

Blue Plaques 

Burbage- Heritage Style Information Board Bridge 37 Wellsborough Bridge

Before During After

1 2

3 4

5 6

Page 29



12/04/2024

2

Heritage Street Nameplates – Osbaston –
Phase 1

Hinckley- Yards and Jitties Signage

Shenton War Memorial Bilstone Gibbet Post Repairs

Before During After

Sheepy Magna- Memorial Bench Hinckley- Margery Payne Plaque

7 8

9 10

11 12

Page 30



 
 
Forward timetable of consultation and decision making 
 
Scrutiny Commission 9 May 2024 
Executive    22 May 2024 
 
Wards affected:  All wards  
 
 

Social Housing Regulation Update – Housing Service Compliance and 
Performance   

 
 

Report of Director (Community Services) 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 To advise members of changes to legislation following the implementation of 

the Social Housing Regulation Act 2023. 
 
1.2 To advise members of the council’s progress with compliance in relation to 

key areas mandated by the Act.   
 
2.2 To advise members of the new inspection routine set out by the Regulator of 

Social Housing.      
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That members note the new requirements of the Social Housing Regulation 

Act 2023. 
 
2.2 That members note progress by the council’s housing service in meeting new 

legislative requirements.      
 
2.3 That members support and endorse the revised Damp and Mould policy.  
 
2.4 That members note the new inspection regime introduced from the 1 April 

2024 and the expectation that the council house service will be inspected 
every four years.   

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 10



3. Background to the report 
 
3.1 Following the Grenfell Tower tragedy in June 2017, after a period of 

engagement and consultation with social housing residents across the 
country, the Government published a social housing green paper. The green 
paper aimed to redress the relationship between residents and landlords.  In 
November 2020 the Government published the Social Housing white paper 
which provided a charter for social housing residents. The charter laid out 
measures to deliver on the Government’s commitment to balance the 
relationship between residents and landlords, empowering residents to have 
their voices heard whilst requiring greater transparency, particularly around 
safety, from landlords.  

 
3.1.2  The Social Housing Regulation Act 2023 came into effect in July 2023. The 

Act aims to improve the lives of social housing tenants by strengthening 
regulations and the power of the Regulator of Social Housing. The Act has 
three core elements which are: 

 
• to facilitate a new, proactive consumer regulation regime; 
• to refine the existing economic regulatory regime; and  
• to strengthen the Regulator of Social Housing’s (Regulator) 

powers to enforce the consumer and economic regimes. 
 

3.3 Social Housing Standards 

 
Regulatory Standards set the outcomes that social landlords in England must 
deliver for tenants.  

 

3.4 Existing Economic Standards 

 
3.4.1 These standards are already in place. The Rent Standard applies to all 

landlords registered with the regulator, including local authorities. The 
Governance and Financial Viability Standard, and the Value for Money 
standard do not apply to local authorities but apply to other registered 
providers and housing associations.  

 
• Governance and Financial Viability Standard – outcomes about how 

landlords are run and their finances. 
• Value for Money Standard – outcomes about landlords making the best 

use of their resources to deliver their purpose. 
• Rent Standard – outcomes about rents, as set out in government policy. 

 

3.5 Consumer Standards 

 
 Whilst Housing Consumer Standards were already in existence under 

previous regulation, they have been amended as follows into 4 key areas.  
 

 The Safety and Quality Standard – outcomes about the safety and 
quality of tenants’ homes. 

Page 32



 The Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard – outcomes 
about how landlords provide information, listen to tenants, and act on their 
views. 

 The Neighbourhood and Community Standard – outcomes about how 
landlords work with other organisations to help ensure tenants live in safe 
neighbourhoods. 

 The Tenancy Standard – outcomes about how landlords allocate and let 
homes and manage tenancies. 

 

3.6 Meeting the new Standards  

 
3.6.1 The Act introduces over 80 specific requirements outlined within the 

consumer standards. As such, the housing service has been working towards 
ensuring compliance with the revised standards. A self-assessment exercise 
has been undertaken and can be found in Appendix A. The self-assessment 
also identifies areas of development. 

 
4 Other key requirements of the Act   
 

4.1  New Tenant Satisfaction Measures  

 
The Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard requires all 
registered providers of social housing to collect and report annually on their 
performance using a core set of defined measures; Tenant Satisfaction 
Measures (TSMs).  From 1 April 2023 all registered providers were required to 
generate and report tenant satisfaction measures (TSMs).  

 
4.1.2 The council’s housing service commissioned Housemark to undertake its   

TSMs to ensure impartiality and compliance with regulation. The council is 
required to collect TSMs on an annual basis going forward. The TSMs are a 
set of 12 tenant perception measures, with a further 10 management 
measures. To ensure compliance, the survey must be representative and at 
least 15% of the overall tenant base. The TSM survey undertaken by 
Housemark equates to a survey size of 17%, which equates to 550 tenants.  

 
4.1.3 Overall 82.5% of tenants reported satisfaction with the housing service. 

Benchmarking information suggests that service is in a good position 
regarding tenant satisfaction. Appendix B provides further summary of the 
council’s TSM results. 

 

4.2 Tenant Safety: Awaab’s Law  

 
4.2.1 A key inclusion and amendment to the Social Housing Regulation Act is 

Awaab’s Law which compels landlords to address issues in relation to damp 
and mould in set time limits. Revisions to processes in relation to damp and 
mould have recently been implemented and Appendix C provides a more 
detailed overview, including the revised damp and mould policy which has 
been coproduced with tenants.  
 

Page 33



4.2.3 The council is currently leading a project on behalf of the district and borough 
councils in Leicestershire. The project aims to provide a consistent approach 
to the identification and subsequent response to damp and mould concerns, 
identified across all tenures, by upskilling both housing and health frontline 
officers. 

 

4.5 A Designated Person 

 
4.5.1 The Act requires registered providers to nominate a designated person for 

health and safety issues. The Housing Assets and Support Teams Manager 
has been assigned this role. Quarterly performance meetings are held where 
all compliance and health and safety information collected by the service is 
reviewed.  

 

4.6 Professionalism 

  
4.6.1 The Social Housing Regulation Act introduces a requirement for social 

housing mangers and executives to hold a professional qualification, 
equivalent to Ofqual Level 4 or 5 Certificate or Diploma in Housing, or a 
foundation degree from the Chartered Institute of Housing. Identified 
managers must evidence that they are working towards the qualification by 
March 2026.  

 
4.6.2 Approximately 6 managers have been identified as needing this qualification 

which is likely to cost approximately £18,000. There is further requirement to 
evidence relevant training and professional development across the wider 
service, to ensure that all officers across both the service and housing sector 
more generally act in a professional manner and uphold the principles that 
have informed this legislation. 

 

4.7 Resident Engagement and the Consumer Standards 

 
4.7.1 The Consumer Standards require social landlords to move beyond limited 

resident involvement and establish a more comprehensive strategy. This 
means ongoing and integrated customer involvement. Over the last 12 
months, the housing service has been working to improve opportunities for 
tenants’ involvement. A number of key roles have been developed and 
recruited to, which will ensure that tenants have the opportunity to inform and 
shape service delivery. Appendix F provides an overview of tenant 
engagement over the last 12 months which has been led by our Service 
Development Team. A Tenant Influence and Scrutiny panel is also being 
finalised which is intended to empower tenants to hold the council 
accountable for the quality and delivery of its housing services and to give 
tenants a voice in the management and maintenance of the council’s homes. 
 

4.8 Complaint handling  

 
4.8.1 Resident satisfaction with the delivery of services, and the way complaints are 

handled are a key focus area for both the Regulator and Housing 

Page 34



Ombudsman. The Act places the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling 
Code on a statutory basis from April 2024, along with giving them the ability to 
intervene in delivery, with annual reports to be published on landlords’ 
performance. An initial review of the housing service’s approach to complaint 
handling is found in Appendix D. The council is soon to implement a corporate 
complaints policy which will also apply to complaints from council tenants. 
Appendix E provides and outline of the way complaints from tenants must be 
dealt with.  
  

4.9 Enhanced powers for the Housing Ombudsman 

 
4.9.1 Under the Social Housing Regulation Act, the Housing Ombudsman is now 

able to look at wider issues of fairness by investigating beyond an individual 
complaint, for example by looking to a specific policy area or practice. The Act 
provides the Housing Ombudsman with powers to publish statutory best 
practice guidance to landlords following investigations into tenant complaints 
and require a landlord to self-assess. The Complaint Handling Code is now on 
a statutory footing and introduces a new legal duty on landlords to comply 
with the Code.  
 

4.10 Proactive enforcement powers 

  
4.10.1 The Act removes the serious detriment test from the consumer standards for 

social homes. Previously the Regulator has been required to have reasonable 
grounds to suspect that a breach of the consumer standards has caused, or 
could cause, serious detriment to a social landlord tenant before it could 
exercise its intervention powers. By removing the serious detriment test, the 
Act places the consumer standards on an equal footing with the economic 
standards by allowing the Regulator to exercise its enforcement powers for 
any breach, or potential breach, of the consumer standards. This will also 
allow the Regulator to be more proactive in its regulation of the consumer 
standards. 

 
4.10.2 The Act introduces new powers for the Regulator to authorise persons to 

enter premises to take emergency remedial action to remedy failures by a 
social landlord. The authorised person may enter the premises without a 
warrant at a reasonable time provided that a pre-entry notice has been given 
on at least 24 hours’ notice. Should the authorised person not be able to 
access the premises then they may seek to obtain a warrant to allow them 
entry to carry out the emergency remedial action. 

 

4.11 Inspection regime  

  
4.11.1  From 1 April 2024 the Regulator commenced its inspection regime to ensure 

compliance with both the existing economic standard (where relevant), and 
increased regulations set out by the consumer standard. The Social Housing 
(Regulation) Act 2023 has put consumer standards on the same footing as 
economic standards and has given the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) 

Page 35



new powers to regulate and enforce them. The council’s housing service can 
expect to be inspected every four years. 

 
4.11.2 The Act introduces a range of interventions for the Regulator, including the 

introduction of unlimited fines, the power to work collaboratively with landlords 
to make improvements via Performance Plans and the ability to remove 
senior managers and replace them with the Regulator’s nominee.  

 
5  Key risks/areas for improvement for the council’s housing service  
  
5.1 Following a self-assessment exercise the housing service can demonstrate 

full or partial compliance with most aspects of the new regulation. Information 
collated by the recent Tenant Satisfaction Measures shows that the service 
must work towards improving its processes around tenant complaints. The 
response rate showed a 46.5% satisfaction rate with complaint handling 
currently. As such the initial review of complaint handling will help inform 
areas of development.  
 

5.1.2 Another area of challenge for the housing service relates to diverse needs 
information, which is set out within the Transparency, Influence and 
Accountability standard. The consumer standards introduce specific 
expectations about having robust information about tenants, so that landlords 
can deliver fair and equitable outcomes. The housing service currently uses 
MRI Housing as its housing management system. The system does not 
currently provide a sufficient method of ensuring that tenants’ and household 
needs information is updated in a continuous way, across the service. The 
consumer standards mandate that providers should have a range of methods 
for collecting this information from tenants to encourage a good response rate. 
At the moment, the system only allows for back-office staff to update records 
via a lengthy process. To address this issue the service is exploring a system 
upgrade which will provide housing officers with the ability to update records 
whilst not in the office. Any upgrade is likely to require a capital investment and 
will need commitment from IT services to ensure provision for accessing our 
MRI database whilst outside of the office. 

 
6 Monitoring 
 
6.1 To ensure compliance quarterly performance information regarding key 

aspects of Social Housing Regulation will be provided to the Senior 
Leadership Team, the Executive and Scrutiny going forward. 

 
7. Exemptions in accordance with the Access to Information procedure 

rules 
 
7.1 To be taken in public session. 

 
  

Page 36



8. Financial implications (IB) 
 
8.1 Any implications arising from the Regulation will need approval in accordance 

with financial procedure rules.  
 
9 Legal implications (ST) 

 
9.1 None 

 
10. Corporate Plan implications 

 
10.1 The objectives of this report align with the following aims of the corporate 

plan: 
People: Help people to stay healthy, happy and active and continue to 
provide initiatives that support children and young people, older people and 
our vulnerable residents  
 

11. Consultation 
 

11.1 None  
 

12. Risk implications 
 
12.1 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were 

identified from this assessment: 
 
Management of significant (Net Red) risks 

Risk description Mitigating actions Owner 

Failure to comply with regulatory 
requirements  

Self-assessment against 
objectives completed, 
action plan devised to 
develop all areas of 
regulation 

Head of 
Housing 

Failure to meet requirements due to 
limited resource 

Resource needs to be 
mapped out 

Head of 
Housing  

Additional financial burden on 
housing repairs budgets to meet 
regulation  

Increased costs regarding 
damp and mould work 
under review  

Gary 
Upton  

 
13. Knowing your community – equality and rural implications 

 
13.1 The objectives of this report relate to council tenants. Council housing is 

spread across the borough. 
 
14. Climate implications 
 
14.1 Regulatory reform imposed by the Social Housing Regulation Act will support 

the reduction of the council’s carbon footprint. 
 

Page 37



15. Corporate implications 
 
15.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into 

account: 
 

- Community safety implications 
- Environmental implications 
- ICT implications 
- Asset management implications 
- Procurement implications 
- Human resources implications 
- Planning implications 
- Data protection implications 
- Voluntary sector 

 
 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Contact officer:  Maddy Shellard 5746 
Executive member:  Cllr M Mullaney 

Page 38



Appendix A- Consumer Standards Self-Assessment/Action plan  
 
 

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

 

Proposed Details Evidence of how standard is met/action required  Progress 

S
a

fe
ty

 a
n
d

 Q
u

a
lit

y
 S

ta
n
d
a

rd
  

Stock quality 

Registered providers must have an accurate record at an 
individual property level of the condition of their stock, 
based on a physical assessment of all homes and keep 
this up to date. 

Properties inspected prior & on completion of planned 
improvement works. Asset management software updated 
accordingly 

In Place 

Registered providers must use data from across their 
records on stock condition to inform their provision of 
good quality, well-maintained and safe homes for tenants 
including: a) Compliance with health and safety legal 
requirements; 

Statutory Compliance Group set up to meet QTRLY to 
review stock and compliance data  

In Place 

b) Compliance with the Decent Homes Standard;  Quarterly Report submitted to SLT on compliance In Place 

c) Delivery of repairs, maintenance and planned 
improvements to stock;  

Planned programmes of work carried out based on 30 
year business plan refreshed yearly. In-House repairs 
team in place with support from external contractors 

In Place 

d) Allocating homes with adaptations appropriately 

Allocation of property through the Allocations Policy, 
working with repairs and occupational health teams to 
ensure the property is suitable for adaptation and will meet 
the needs of the individual 

In Place 

 

Decency 

Registered providers must ensure that tenants’ homes 
meet the standard set out in section five of the 
government’s Decent Homes Guidance and continue to 
maintain their homes to at least this standard unless 
exempted by the regulator 

Quarterly Report submitted to SLT on compliance In Place  

Health and 
Safety 

Registered providers must identify and meet all legal 
requirements that relate to the health and safety of 
tenants in their homes and communal areas. 

Compliance Group Set Up. Hsg Repairs carry out monthly 
Pre Planned Maintenance checks of all communal areas.  
These are complimented by monthly building checks 
carried out by on site support staff in sheltered buildings 
and our Estate Improvement Officer in general needs 
blocks of flats   

In Place  

Registered providers must ensure that all required actions 
arising from legally required health and safety 

All H&S and FRA are monitored and actions delegated by 
the Housing Assets & Support Teams Manager  

In Place  

P
age 39



assessments are carried out within appropriate 
timescales. 

Registered providers must ensure that the safety of 
tenants is considered in the design and delivery of 
landlord services and take reasonable steps to mitigate 
any identified risks to tenants. 

Risk assessment processes in place in sheltered housing 
and Homeless Hostel, Ongoing work to develop a 
consistent approach across other service areas  

In Progress 

 

 

 

Repairs, 
maintenance 
and planned 
improvements 

Registered providers must enable repairs and 
maintenance issues to be reported easily. 

Various reporting formats in place - Telephone, email, web 
page 

In Place  

Registered providers must set timescales for the 
completion of repairs, maintenance and planned 
improvements, clearly communicate them to tenants and 
take appropriate steps to deliver to them. 

Timescales for completion of repairs in place & detailed on 
website 

In Place  

Registered providers must keep tenants informed about 
repairs, maintenance and planned improvements to their 
homes with clear and timely communication. 

Notification by letter given for planned improvements. 
Appointments made by telephone / email in advance for 
repairs & maintenance 

In Place  

Registered providers must understand and fulfil their 
maintenance responsibilities in respect of communal 
areas. 

Monthly inspections taking place In Place  

Registered providers must ensure that the delivery of 
repairs, maintenance and planned improvements to 
homes and communal areas is informed by the needs of 
tenants and provides value for money, in addition to Stock 
quality requirement SE2. 

Full procurement exercise is carried out when appointing 
contractors to carry out planned improvements 

In Place  

Adaptations 

Registered providers must clearly communicate to tenants 
and relevant organisations how they will assist tenants 
seeking housing adaptations services. 

Communicating the process to tenants to be reviewed In Progress 

 

 

 

Registered providers must co-operate with tenants, 
appropriate local authority departments and other relevant 
organisations so that a housing adaptations service is 
provided to tenants. 

Adaptations carried out based on receipt of 
recommendation from Social Services 

In Place  

  

P
age 40



T
ra

n
s
p
a

re
n

c
y
, 
In

fl
u

e
n

c
e
 &

 A
c
c
o

u
n

ta
b

ili
ty

 S
ta

n
d

a
rd

 

Fairness and 
respect 

Registered providers must treat all tenants with fairness 
and respect. 

Collect tenant insight data to identify if there are any 
needs that we are not meeting 

In Progress 

 

 

 

 

Diverse needs 

Registered providers must use relevant information and 
data to: a) understand the diverse needs of tenants, 
including those arising from protected characteristics, 
language barriers, and additional support needs; and  

Analyse insight data to understand the specific diverse 
needs of our tenants 

In Progress 

 

 

 

b) assess whether all tenants have fair access to, and 
equitable outcomes of, housing and landlord services. 

Analyse insight data to understand the specific diverse 
needs of our tenants 

In Progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Registered providers must ensure that communication 
with and information for tenants is clear, accessible, 
relevant, timely and appropriate to the diverse needs of 
tenants. 

Ongoing across service/managers to ensure oversight  In Progress 

 

 

 

Registered providers must ensure that landlord services 
are accessible, and that the accessibility is publicised to 
tenants. This includes supporting tenants and prospective 
tenants to use online landlord services if required. 

 Ongoing review  In Progress  

P
age 41



Registered providers must allow tenants and prospective 
tenants to be supported by a representative or advocate in 
interactions about landlord services. 

Consider something on key comm/website  Not Started  

Engagement 
with tenants 

Registered providers must give tenants a wide range of 
meaningful opportunities to influence and scrutinise their 
landlord’s strategies, policies and services. This includes 
in relation to the neighbourhood where applicable. 

The wider service to include scrutiny opportunities and 
proactive tenant engagement 

In Progress  

Registered providers must assist tenants who wish to 
implement tenant-led activities to influence and scrutinise 
their landlord’s strategies, policies and services. This 
includes in relation to the neighbourhood where 
applicable. 

Each service area should identify and support tenants In Place  

Registered provider must provide accessible support that 
meets the diverse needs of tenants so they can engage 
with the opportunities in 1 and 2 (2.2.1 and 2.2.2 in the 
Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard). 

Accessibility information to be collated and promoted  In Progress  

Registered providers must support tenants to exercise 
their Right to Manage, Right to Transfer or otherwise 
exercise housing management functions, where 
appropriate. 

 Established process/signposting  In Place  

Registered providers, working with tenants, must regularly 
consider ways to improve and tailor their approach to 
delivering landlord services including tenant engagement. 
They must implement changes as appropriate to ensure 
services deliver the intended aims. 

Ongoing across service/managers to ensure oversight  In Progress  

Where a registered provider is considering a change in 
landlord for one or more tenants, or a significant change in 
management arrangements, it must consult affected 
tenants on its proposals at a formative stage and take 
those views into account in reaching a decision. The 
consultation must: a) be fair and accessible; 

  Not Started  

b) provide tenants with adequate time, information and 
opportunities to consider and respond;  

To review In Progress  

c) set out actual or potential advantages and 
disadvantages (including costs) to tenants in the 
immediate and longer term;  

To review In Progress  

P
age 42



d) demonstrate to affected tenants how the consultation 
responses have been taken into account in reaching a 
decision. 

website/keys comms  In Place  

Information 
about landlord 
services 

Registered providers must provide tenants with 
information about the: a) available landlord services, how 
to access those services, and the standards of service 
tenants can expect;  

Website review currently in place with Lois which will 
serve as the initial platform for this information. 

In Progress 

 

 

 

b) standards of safety and quality tenants can expect 
homes and communal areas to meet;  

Service standards in place in sheltered properties, which 
were developed and agreed by residents working group. 
Need to develop standards for wider general needs 
tenants   

In Progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

c) rents and service charges that are payable by tenants; 
 Tenancy signups, rent increases and increases re service 
charges communicated annually  

In Place  

d) responsibilities of the registered provider and the tenant 
for maintaining homes, communal areas, shared spaces 
and neighbourhoods. 

Service standards in place in sheltered properties, which 
were developed and agreed by residents working group. 
Need to develop standards for wider general needs 
tenants   

In Progress 

 

 

 

Registered providers must communicate with affected 
tenants on progress, next steps and outcomes when 
delivering landlord services. 

 To explore ways to develop  In Place  

Registered providers’ housing and neighbourhood policies 
must be fair, reasonable, accessible and transparent. 
Where relevant, policies should set out decision-making 
criteria and appeals processes. 

 Review of all policies and accessibility underway/scrutiny 
from tenants  

In Progress 

 

 

 

Registered providers must make information available to 
tenants about the relevant roles and responsibilities of 
senior level employees or officers, including who has 

To review  In Progress  

P
age 43



responsibility for compliance with the consumer 
standards. 

Performance 
information 

Registered providers must meet the regulator’s 
requirements in relation to the tenant satisfaction 
measures set by the regulator as set out in Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures: Technical requirements and 
Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Tenant survey 
requirements. 

Implemented April 2023 In Place  

Registered providers must:  a) collect and process 
information specified by the regulator relating to their 
performance against the tenant satisfaction measures. 
The information must be collected within a timeframe set 
by the regulator and must meet the regulator’s 
requirements in Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Technical 
requirements and Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Tenant 
survey requirements 

Tenant perception survey in place. Landlord measures to 
be collected by Gary and Clive. 

In Place  

b) annually publish their performance against the tenant 
satisfaction measures. This should include information 
about how they have met the regulator’s requirements set 
out in Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Technical 
requirements and Tenant Satisfaction Measures: Tenant 
survey requirements. This information must be published 
in a manner that is timely, clear, and easily accessed by 
tenants; and 

To be published on our website and tenant newsletter.  In Place  

c) annually submit to the regulator information specified 
by the regulator relating to their performance against 
those measures. The information must be submitted 
within a timeframe and in a form determined by the 
regulator.   

Implemented April 2023 In Place  

In meeting specific expectation 1 and specific expectation 
2 above, registered providers must ensure that the 
information is an accurate, reliable, valid, and transparent 
reflection of their performance against the tenant 
satisfaction measures 

Implemented April 2023 In Place  

P
age 44



Registered providers must provide tenants with 
information about: a) how they are performing in delivering 
landlord services and what actions they will take to 
improve performance where required; 

 Tenant communications  In Progress  

b) how they have taken tenants’ views into account to 
improve landlord services, information and 
communication;  

 To develop  In Progress  

c) how income is being spent;   To develop  In Progress  

d) their directors’ remuneration and management costs.  To develop  In Progress  

Complaints 

Registered providers must ensure their approach to 
handling complaints is simple and accessible. 

 To develop  In Progress  

Registered providers must publicise their complaints 
process and what tenants can do if they are dissatisfied 
with the outcome of a complaint or how a complaint was 
handled. 

Explore opportunities to develop In Progress  

Registered providers must provide tenants with 
information about the type of complaints received and how 
they have learnt from complaints to continuously improve 
services. 

Explore opportunities to develop In Progress  

Self-referral 

Registered providers must communicate in a timely 
manner with the regulator on all material issues that relate 
to non-compliance or potential non-compliance with the 
consumer standards. 

To promote with managers re good practice In Place  

 
  

P
age 45



N
e

ig
h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d
 a

n
d

 C
o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 S

ta
n
d

a
rd

 
Maintenance of 
shared spaces 

Registered providers must work co-operatively to assist in 
resolving issues affecting the upkeep and safety of the 
shared spaces associated with their homes. 

Working with other council services when issues arise. 

In Place Regular inspections carried out; PPM's, H&S Inspections, 
Estate Improvement Officer inspections 

Local 
Cooperation 

Registered providers, having taken account of their 
strategic objectives, the views of tenants and their 
presence within the areas where they provide social 
housing, must: a) identify and communicate to tenants the 
roles registered providers play in promoting social, 
environmental and economic wellbeing and how they will 
achieve them; and  

Corporate Plan, Community Houses, Cost of living events 
initiatives held. Local Plan. 

In Place 

b) co-operate with local partnership arrangements and the 
strategic housing function of local authorities where they 
are able to assist them in achieving their objectives. 

Housing Development, S106, Planning Policy work closely 
with registered providers. In Place 

Local Plan - meeting housing needs. 

Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

Registered providers must have a policy on how they work 
with relevant organisations to deter and tackle ASB in the 
neighbourhoods where they provide social housing. 

 Endeavour In Place 

Registered providers must clearly set out their approach 
for how they tackle and deter hate incidents in 
neighbourhoods where they provide social housing. 

 Endeavour In Place 

Registered providers must enable ASB to be reported 
easily and keep tenants informed about the progress of 
their case. 

 Endeavour In Place 

Registered providers must provide prompt and appropriate 
action in response to ASB, having regard to the full range 
of tools and legal powers available to them. 

 Endeavour In Place 

Registered providers must support tenants who are 
affected by ASB, including by signposting them to 
agencies who can give them appropriate support and 
assistance. 

 Endeavour In Place 

Domestic abuse 

Registered providers must have a policy for how they 
respond to cases of domestic abuse. 

 To add to Tenancy Management policy In Place 

Registered providers must co-operate with appropriate 
local authority departments to support the local authority in 
meeting its duty to develop a strategy and commission 
services for victims of domestic abuse and their children 
within safe accommodation. 

 Ongoing through wider DA worksteams/CSP In Place 

 
  

P
age 46



T
e
n

a
n

c
y
 S

ta
n
d

a
rd

 

Allocations 
and lettings 

Registered providers must co-operate with local authorities’ 
strategic housing functions and assist local authorities to 
fulfil their duties to meet identified local housing need. This 
includes assistance with local authorities’ homelessness 
duties, and through meeting obligations in nominations 
agreements. 

 Housing Options service  In Place 

Registered providers must seek to allocate homes that are 
designated, designed, or adapted to meet specific needs in 
a way that is compatible with the purpose of the housing. 

 Allocations process  In Place 

Registered providers must develop and deliver services to 
address underoccupation and overcrowding in their homes. 
These services should be focused on the needs of tenants. 

Covered in the allocations policy, and service is delivered 
via TMOs 

In Place 

Registered providers must take action to prevent and tackle 
tenancy fraud. 

Verification / ID checks in place. Experian checks in place, 
TMO's will respond to cases of tenancy fraud and take 
action to tackle. 

In Place 

Registered providers must have a fair, reasonable, simple 
and accessible appeals process for allocation decisions. 

 Communication on this could be improved  In Place 

Registered providers must record all lettings and sales as 
required by the Continuous Recording of Lettings (CORE) 
system. 

 Evidenced via Core returns In Place 

Tenancy 
sustainment 
and evictions 

Registered providers must provide services that support 
tenants to maintain their tenancy or licence and prevent 
unnecessary evictions. 

Introductory Tenancy Officer, Welfare Support Officer - 
Tenancy Support Officer 

In Place 

Registered providers must provide tenants required to 
move with timely advice and assistance about housing 
options before the tenancy or licence ends. 

Working with other departments within the council In Place 

Tenure 

Registered providers shall publish clear and accessible 
policies which outline their approach to tenancy 
management, including interventions to sustain tenancies 
and prevent unnecessary evictions, and tackling tenancy 
fraud, and set out: a) The type of tenancies they will grant; 

Policy / outline approach to tenancy management In Progress 

b) Where they grant tenancies for a fixed term, the length 
of those terms; 

 Policy / outline approach to tenancy management In Place 

c) The circumstances in which they will grant tenancies of a 
particular type; 

 Policy / outline approach to tenancy management In Place 

P
age 47



d) Any exceptional circumstances in which they will grant 
fixed term tenancies for a term of less than five years in 
general needs housing following any probationary period; 

 Policy/ outline approach to tenancy management  In Place 

e) The circumstances in which they may or may not grant 
another tenancy on the expiry of the fixed term, in the same 
property or in a different property 

 Policy / outline approach to tenancy management In Place 

Registered providers must grant general needs tenants a 
periodic secure or assured (excluding periodic assured 
shorthold) tenancy, or a tenancy for a minimum fixed term 
of five years, or exceptionally, a tenancy for a minimum 
fixed term of no less than two years, in addition to any 
probationary tenancy period 

 Explore policy to define this In Place 

Before a fixed term tenancy ends, registered providers 
shall provide notice in writing to the tenant stating either 
that they propose to grant another tenancy on the expiry of 
the existing fixed term or that they propose to end the 
tenancy. 

 Explore policy to define this In Place 

Where registered providers use probationary tenancies, 
these must be for a maximum of 12 months, or a maximum 
of 18 months where reasons for extending the probationary 
period have been given and where the tenant has the 
opportunity to request a review 

Develop Tenancy Management Policy In Place 

Registered providers shall grant those who were social 
housing tenants on the day on which section 154 of the 
Localism Act 2011 comes into force, and have remained 
social housing tenants since that date, a tenancy with no 
less security where they choose to move to another social 
rented home, whether with the same or another landlord. 
(This requirement does not apply where tenants choose to 
move to accommodation let on Affordable Rent terms). 

 Explore policy to define this In Place 

Registered providers shall grant tenants who have been 
moved into alternative accommodation during any 
redevelopment or other works a tenancy with no less 
security of tenure on their return to settled accommodation. 

 Explore policy to define this In Place 

P
age 48



Mutual 
exchange 

Registered providers must offer a mutual exchange service 
which allows relevant tenants potentially eligible for mutual 
exchange, whether pursuant to a statutory right or a policy 
of the registered provider, to easily access details of all (or 
the greatest practicable number of) available matches 
without payment of a fee. 

 Ensure adequate comms/promotion  In Place 

Registered providers must publicise the availability of any 
mutual exchange service(s) it offers to its relevant tenants. 

 Advertised through Homeswapper. To explore further 
opporutunties 

In Place 

Registered providers must provide support for accessing 
mutual exchange services to relevant tenants who might 
otherwise be unable to use them. 

 Accessible formats available In Place 

Registered providers must offer tenants seeking to mutually 
exchange with information about the implications for 
tenure, rent and service charges. 

Updates needed to mutual exchange procedures / policies. 
They are in place but not reviewed recently. 

In Place 

 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix B 

 

Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSMs) 

In addition to the Social Housing Regulation Act 2023, Social Housing Providers are now required 

to collect and publish performance information in the form of Tenant Satisfaction Measures 

(TSMs).  

TSMs are designed to see how well landlords are doing at: 

 keeping properties in good repair 

 maintaining building safety 

 respectful and helpful engagement 

 effective handling of complaints  

 responsible neighbourhood management  

 

There are 22 satisfaction measures, including 12 tenant perception measures (TPMs) and 10 

management information measures (MI). 

From April 2024 the Regulator of Social Housing will commence its inspection regime. The 

Regulator has indicated that TSM results will form part of the evidence base to establish how well 

landlords are doing, across the 5 areas. Housing providers with over 1000 properties are required 

to collect and publish TSMs on annual basis going forward.  

HBBC are required to produce a proportion of 15% of its stock size. 

HBBC’s housing service- TSM results 

The housing service commissioned Housemark to carry out its TSMs in relation to tenant 

perception, to ensure compliance and impartiality. In doing so, Housemark carried out 550 

telephone surveys with council tenants (17%). The housing service asked for two further questions 

to be asked in relation to cost of living impacts and tenant involvement. The full results are set out 

in Appendix A. 

Management performance information is informed directly by the service. 

Summary of key findings  

The highest scoring TSMs were: 
89.4%- Residents who are satisfied that their home is safe 
87.5%- Residents who agree that they are treated fairly and with respect. 
82.5%- Residents who are satisfied with the overall service. 
 
The lowest scoring TSMs was: 

46.5%-Satisfaction with complaints handling presented relatively low levels of satisfaction  
 

Benchmarking 

Benchmarking data suggests good performance form the council when compared to other housing 

providers as detailed below.  

Page 51



2 
 

Question Satisfaction % 
Housemark 
- Mid Year 

TSM 

Overall Satisfaction 82.5% +10.2% 

Satisfaction With The Repairs Service Received In The Last 12 Months 79.9% +5.4% 

Satisfaction With Time Taken To Complete Repair 80.7% +10.7% 

Satisfaction Home Is Well Maintained 81.5% +9.3% 

Satisfaction Home Is Safe 89.4% +10.7% 

Satisfaction Landlord Listens And Acts 72.9% +11.9% 

Satisfaction Landlord Keeps Tenants Informed 78.9% +7.5% 

Satisfaction Landlord Treats Tenants Fairly And With Respect 87.5% +9.3% 

Satisfaction With Complaint Handling 46.5% +12.5% 

Satisfaction With Communal Space 73.6% +7.6% 

Satisfaction With Contribution To Neighbourhood 76.1% +12.1% 

Satisfaction With Anti-Social Behaviour Handling 73.6% +16.0% 

 

Supplementary questions 

The council asked two supplementary questions in relation to the cost-of-living crisis and tenant 

engagement. The results were as follows:  

81.1% of tenants agreed that the cost-of-living crisis was impacting on them. This supports work 

underway by the Welfare Support team who assisted 375 tenants with welfare support last year.  

22.1 % of tenants stated that they would be interested in getting involved in opportunities around 

tenant engagement. Tenant involvement continues to be a challenging area for the housing 

service, as tenants no longer wish to engage in traditional methods, such as standing panels or 

meetings. The Service Development team is leading on developing tenant engagement and 

scrutiny, to ensure that the council continues to be able to demonstrate compliance in relation to 

this area which is mandated within the consumer standard regulations.  

Next steps 

The housing service has established an action plan to continue to develop and improve satisfaction 

across all areas. A review of our complaints handling process is underway. It should be recognised 

that complaint handling does not wholly refer to the corporate process but applies to all concerns 

raised by tenants. This is an area of focus the service is keen to improve.  

Publication 

The council is required to submit its TSM results by 30 June 2024. The council is also required to 

make its results available to tenants and other stakeholders. As such, the housing service will be 

publishing its results on the website and in direct tenant communications. Those tenants who 

participated in the survey and have provided contact details will be contacted to thank them for 

their participation. 

 

Page 52



3 
 

Tenant Satisfaction scores  

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1 
 

Appendix A 
 

An Approach to Damp and Mould within Council Housing Properties  
  

 
Background  

 
 The tragic death of Awaab Ishak in November 2022, who died from exposure to damp and 

mould, brought to the fore the risk and consequences of the effects of damp and mould 
within the home. Requirements imposed by the Social Housing Regulation Act that came 
into force into July 2023 now compel registered social landlords to:  

 

 Manage their data well, have access to up to date information about tenants’ homes, 
resolve problems proactively. 
 

 That homes are free from serious hazards, including damp and mould, and that homes are 
fit for habitation. 

 

 That there is strong oversight from boards and councillors, to ensure that concerns are well 
managed at the earliest point. 

 
 Appendix 1 provides the proposed revised Damp and Mould policy. The policy has been 

drafted in consultation with tenants as co-production principles are encouraged by the 
Regulator of Social Housing. The policy aims to reflect both the responsibilities of the 
council as the landlord and those of the tenant. The policy reflects revisions to working 
practices, which are reflected below.  

  
 Process Review 

Following a review of the housing service’s approach to managing damp and mould, the 
following processes and practices are now in place:  

 

 Prioritised inspections to undertake survey of concerns reported 

 Assessment of household vulnerabilities to ensure our response is adequate to the risks 
identified. 

 Assessment of the cause of the issue 

 Remedial action such as mould treatment, repairs, or renewed ventilation systems 

 A robust process to ensure that non access cases are revisited  

 Advice and guidance on how to reduce damp and mould within the home 

 Damp and Mould and Repairs advice events.  

 Tenant Newsletter – Housing Hub includes regular featured articles on damp and mould, 
practical advice, and tips.  

 Focus on encouraging tenants to report issues 

 Referral/signposting to welfare services to assist with cost-of-living concerns and impacts 

 Introduced trigger points for front line staff to escalate to a housing officer or manager, in 
cases of persistent mould problems.  

 Escalation processes for risky cases  

 Reduced over-reliance on tenant ventilating the property, considering the cost-of-living 
concerns and mitigating circumstances. Additional installation of ventilation systems where 
needed. 

 Training for all frontline housing officers on the impacts of damp and mould  

 Maintenance of data base to ensure concerns are recorded 

Page 55



 

 

2 
 

 Revisit to all damp and mould cases a year after the report. 

 Work to decarbonise all council homes to ensure efficacy of energy efficiency within our 
housing stock. 

 
 

 Proactive approach  
The housing service actively encourages reporting. Following a report of damp and mould a 
response will be actioned within 24 hours. Mould treatments have been reclassified as an 
urgent repair and are now inspected within a 7-day period. Any resulting works are 
prioritised and carried out within 7 days of an order being raised, wherever possible. 
Appendix 2 provides flow chart, which is included in the policy, setting out the process.  

 
 
 Responding to reports of damp and mould 
 Over the last 12 months the housing service have received 422 reports of damp and mould 

across our housing stock. Further analysis of the data is also included in Appendix 3 
including an overview of the types of damp and mould repairs completed.  
 
The data allows the service to determine where preventive measures are most needed to 
reduce the number of repairs required. By focusing on proactive measures, we can 
effectively prevent these problems from arising in the first place.  
 
In September 2023 processes in relation to non-access jobs were revised. Adapting 
existing non access processes for jobs relating to damp and mould has helped to ensure 
that case notes reflect the attempts and methods of contact progressed including letters, 
text messaging and phone calls.  
 
 

 Tenancy Support and Access 
To effectively overcome access obstacles, that could obstruct critical repairs, the repairs 
service is actively collaborating with tenancy management officers from an early stage. 
Tenancy Management Officers will closely work with the repairs team to secure access 
while prioritising the needs of tenants and maintaining the safety and security of their 
homes. 

 
 

 Communication 
The service have instigated a follow up scheme, which creates more dialogue between the 
tenant and us as their landlord. From 1 Janurary 2024 processes were again revised so 
that tenants are sent a letter, 3 months after the completion of a repair concerning damp or 
mould. This encourages tenants to let us know if they are struggling to manage 
condensation or experiencing any recurring issues.  

 
On a 12-month rolling period letters are also sent to tenants where works were carried out 
between the 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023. This approach encourages 
communication from tenants to establish whether they have had any further issues with 
damp and mould prior to the implementation of the current follow up scheme.  So far 99 
letters have been issued.  
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 

 

3 
 

 Following Up with Tenants 
Three months after a repair relating to mould issues has been completed, tenants receive a 
follow up call to ascertain whether any problems have resurfaced, to order any remedial 
work or further inspections, and to provide advice and encouragement for further reporting if 
they do experience any issues. 

 
 
 Investing in Housing Stock  

The service has 3200 dwellings and following a recent Energy Performance review, it was 
identified that a third of our stock is below the required standard, EPC C. Properties below 
EPC C are more at risk of excess cold as they are less efficient. Excess cold can lead to 
damp and mould.  As part of the review the worst performing architypes have been 
identified and include solid walled properties built pre-1945. These properties are 
predominantly located within the main areas of Hinckley, Burbage, Earl Shilton and Barwell. 
To achieve a minimum band C rating, external wall insulation has been identified as the 
solution to achieving this rating for these properties. In addition, improving ventilation will 
help reduce and minimise condensation that can lead to damp and mould concerns. 
 
Funding via the Local Authority Delivery 2 scheme (LAD2) and the Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) has enabled works to be progresses that has reduced heat 
loss, benefiting tenants with lower energy bills, at a time when the cost of gas and electricity 
is significant. Damp and mould issues arising from excess cold have also been reduced in 
these properties.   
 
In addition to the capital budgets required to maintain the decency of our properties, funds 
are included within the 30-year business plan to improve ventilation, energy efficiency and 
decarbonisation.  This is investment above the requirement needed to meet the decent 
homes standard. 

 
 Housing and Health pilot project  

The council is currently leading a project on behalf of the district and borough councils in 
Leicestershire. The project aims to provide a consistent approach to the identification and 
subsequent response to damp and mould concerns, identified across all tenures, by 
upskilling both housing and health frontline officers.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

4 
 

Appendix 1 

 

DRAFT 
 

 

Condensation, Damp and Mould Policy in Council Owned Properties 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

 

5 
 

 

 

Version Reviewed By Date 

1 Lois Hodgkins and Madeline Shellard  

2 Tenant Involvement Review 24.08.2023 

   

 

 

Background  

This Policy sets out the activities and responsibilities involved in the management of, and 
response to reports of Damp and Mould within Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council’s Housing 
Service. The Council aims to provide a consistently high-quality repair and maintenance service 
for all our customers and to maintain our properties to provide a well-functioning and safe 
environment. 
 
Sufficient evidence has been found to link exposure to indoor mould with upper respiratory tract 
symptoms, coughing, and wheezing in otherwise healthy people. Numbers of dust mites are 
elevated by damp indoor environments; dust mites affect allergies and asthma. Studies have 
shown that dampness and mould are associated with approximately 30-50% increases in 
respiratory and asthma related health outcomes. People living in homes with damp and mould 
may also experience depression and anxiety due to the conditions. 
 
 
Key Principles 
 

 To provide dry, well-functioning, energy efficient homes that are well maintained and safe for 
tenants to live in. 

 

 To ensure that the fabric of council owned properties is protected from deterioration and damage 
resulting from damp and mould.  

 

 To ensure the Council achieve high standards of workmanship and customer satisfaction.  
 

 The council recognises the Homes (fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018 and Free from Hazards 
(HHSRS) legislation.  

 

 To consult with tenants on this policy and any associated documents, to gather insight, feedback, 
and scrutiny. 

 
 
Our Objectives  
 

 Invest in proactive and reactive measures to tackling condensation, damp, and mould. 
 

 Maintain a minimum standard by meeting the Decent Homes Standard (2005) 
 

Page 59



 

 

6 
 

 Maximise intervention including void standards, communication with residents and reducing over-
reliance on residents to report. 

 

 Train staff and operatives to spot signs of condensation, damp and mould and carry out 
maintenance to reduce its occurrence. 

 

 Working collaboratively with residents and any relevant departments within the Council to manage 
the immediate issue and the ongoing management of condensation and mould. 

 
 
Responsibility and Legislation 
 

 We will take a joint approach with residents, led by the Housing Service. 
 

 The Council is responsible for maintaining the property to avoid penetrating and rising damp. 
 

 The Council is responsible for carrying out remedial action if these do occur. 
 

 The Council is responsible for insulating the property in accordance with the Decent Homes 
Standard.  

 

 A list of the current legislation that is applicable to this policy is available in appendix A. 
 
 
 
Damp and Mould Responsive Repair Works 
 
A request may be received from a customer or employee to inspect issues experienced with excessive or 
unmanageable amounts of condensation, or instances of damp or mould inside a property. 
 
The Officer from the Housing Service will take pictures of any effected area in your home, or if you are 
reporting an issue to us, we will ask if you can send photographs to us. This helps us risk assess the 
prevalence of the issue in your home and we will prioritise on a case by case basis. 
 
The Officer will ask if any member(s) of the household are vulnerable, such as elderly, young children or 
has a health condition. This also forms part of our triage of requests to prioritise accordingly. 
 
We will arrange for a property survey to assess and identify any possible causes of mould or damp. 
 
During the visit our inspector will look at all rooms where damp and mould has been identified. They will 
look at causes which could be a range of structural, leaks or condensation. They will also ask the tenant for 
information about any existing actions in place to reduce moisture within the property. 
 
Depending on the cause of the mould, our inspector will review existing methods of managing 
condensation and order any remedial works that the Council are responsible for. 
 
The inspector will also, depending on the cause of the mould, give advice to the tenant on managing 
condensation and provide guidance based on industry standards and best practices.  
 
The inspector will also give the tenant a booklet with practical and helpful tips and demonstrations on how 
to work together in the management of condensation, damp, and mould. 
 
The inspection will be evaluated to identify factors leading to the growth of damp or mould to establish the 
cause of the problem. 
 

Page 60



 

 

7 
 

If damp is found to be present, we will carry out repair works to areas that are the responsibility of Hinckley 
and Bosworth Borough Council.  
 
Tenants are responsible for any redecoration following repair works carried out for damp and mould issues. 
 
If the outcome of the inspection shows that condensation is causing the problem, we will liaise with the 
tenant and evaluate what mitigations we can put in place to support tenants. This could include support 
from Repairs, Tenancy Support Officers, and Welfare Support Officers. 
 
 
Damp and Mould Preventative Action 
 
The council will take steps to intervene in the prevalence of damp and mould in its homes by: 

 Carrying out ventilation works to void properties, so that newly let properties are in a good state of 
repair and any potential causes of damp and mould are rectified prior to being let. 

 We will continue to invest in our Council homes and direct spending to maintain our existing high 
level of homes meeting the Decent Homes Standard. 

 Our Asset Management Strategy is aligned with our objectives in reducing occurrences of excess 
cold in homes and obtaining up to date EPC certificates for all council owned properties. This will 
help us identify planned work to improve the energy efficiency of our homes. 

 Produce and regularly review literature (both printed and online) of the management of 
condensation, damp and mould in council owned properties. Including advice and guidance from 
current best practice standards and what tenants need to do, in line with their responsibilities to 
properly ventilate and heat their home. 

 We understand that tenants may have circumstances which makes it difficult for them financially to 
heat and ventilate their home. Where this is identified, we will engage with Tenancy Support 
Services. 

 Maintain a log of all reported damp & mould issues along with actions taken and advice given that is 
accessible to all officers. 

 Each year, the council will assess cases reported the previous winter and arrange follow up action 
where necessary ahead of the incoming colder months.  

 The council will carry out awareness training to enable officers to spot signs of condensation, damp, 
and mould, and give advice or request an inspection. 

 
 

Page 61



 

 

8 
 

Customer Experiences 
 
We regularly review our process and practices to ensure that we are not just meeting our obligations as a 
Social Landlord but are striving to provide an excellent service that our customers are satisfied with. 
 
We will manage assessments of cases by utilising other services, contractors, private sector housing and 
using data loggers and diaries. 
 
Where there are persistent issues or concerns, we will escalate cases to managers. 
 
The tenant can request that their case is escalated to a senior officer if they are not satisfied with how their 
case is being dealt with. A senior officer within the Housing team will review the case and discuss the 
experience directly with the tenant. 
 
If the tenant is not satisfied with how their report is being dealt with, there are several routes to escalation 
that can be easily accessed. We encourage our tenants to let us know at any stage of the process if they 
are dissatisfied. If a concern, complaint, or even formal complaint is raised, the council will continue to carry 
out necessary inspections and work to remedy the issue. Letting us know about dissatisfaction will not stop 
progress on remedying the issue and we would encourage tenants with any concerns to get in touch with 
us. 
 
The councils’ formal complaints process can be accessed at any stage, using any of the below points of 
contact:  
 

<friendly URL to be added here>  

 

Contact Committee Services 

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 

Hinckley Hub 

Rugby Road 

Hinckley LE10 0FR 

Telephone: 01455 238141 

 

The following is a list of the current legislation that is applicable to this policy:  

 Landlord & Tenant Act 1985 

 Defective Premises Act 1972 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 Right to Repair Regulations 1994 

 Building Regulations 

 The Housing Acts 1985 & 1996 

 Housing Act 2004 – Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
 

Appendix B 

 

Page 62

https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/info/200025/compliments_and_complaints/268/how_to_make_a_complaint_or_compliment/3


 

 

9 
 

Damp and Mould reporting and completion process (to be included) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

 

10 
 

Appendix 2 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

 

11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

 

12 
 

Appendix 3 
 
 

Damp and Mould Data for Council Housing Service 
 

 
The following graph shows performance in relation to the completion of works in relation to damp 
and mould. Following revision to practises most jobs are now on target, and those that are outside 
of target are likely to be due to lack of access.  
 
 
Graph A - Mould Treatments in Target 
 
 

 
The next chart illustrates the type of damp and mould repairs progressed.  
 
 
Chart B Types of Damp and Mould Repairs being completed 
 

 
 
 

61%

76%
89%

77%
83%

92%
80% 80%

100% 100%
94%

87%

39%

24%
11%

23%
17%

8%
20% 20%

0% 0%
6%

13%

J A N F E B M A R A P R M A Y J U N J U L A U G S E P O C T N O V D E C

Completed Outside of Target Completed in Target

2022 2023

17%

16%

45%

11%

11%

Total % of Repair Types

Envirovent Fans

Loft Insulation

Mould
Treatments

Rake Out
Brickwork

Vents &
Airbricks

91

75

72

28

27

HINCKLEY

BURBAGE

EARL SHILTON

BARWELL

NEWBOLD VERDON

RATBY

Total Damp & Mould by Area Since September 2022

Envirovent Fans Loft Insulation Mould Treatments Rake Out Brickw... Vents & Airbricks

Follow up Letters & Customer 
Response

Follow up Letter Sent

Yes

No

Response From Letter

Yes

No

Additional Repairs Raised?

No

Yes

Dec

2

9

23

3

5

2023

Page 66



 

 

13 
 

Table 3 provides an insight into seasonal trends. Damp and mould concerns are more prevalent in 
the colder months into the early spring. Analysis of seasonal trends and specific numbers allows 
us to target resources to carry out treatment and remedial actions. 
  
Table 3 Identifying Seasonal Trends - Completed Damp and Mould Repairs 2023 

 
 
Table 4 identifies the number of reports in relation to damp and mould by location.  
 

 
 
This data enables the service to proactively target campaigns to assist tenants in relation to damp 

and mould. As such, damp and mould events have been held in key locations across the borough.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Envirovent Fans

Loft Insulation

Mould
Treatments

Rake Out
Brickwork

Vents &
Airbricks

HINCKLEY

BURBAGE

EARL SHILTON

BARWELL

NEWBOLD VERDON

RATBY

Total Damp & Mould by Area Since September 2022

Envirovent Fans Loft Insulation

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Envirovent Fans 3 9 6 20 13 5 2 5 3 5 5 2

Loft Insulation 3 12 6 5 7 2 2 2 5 10 4 9

Mould Treatments 18 29 27 30 6 13 15 15 7 10 18 23

Rake Out Brickwork 1 2 1 4 8 3 3 2 2 7 3

Vents & Airbricks 3 3 1 5 6 2 1 1 1 5 7 5

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Years

2022 2023

Types of Damp and Mould Repairs Carried Out per Month

Envirovent Fans Loft Insulation Mould Treatments Rake Out Brickw... Vents & Airbricks

Attend On

Completed Damp & Mould Repair Types by Address

BAGWORTH BARLESTONE BARTON IN THE BEANS BARWELL

BURBAGE DESFORD EARL SHILTON GROBY

HIGHAM ON THE HILL HINCKLEY MARKET BOSWORTH MARKFIELD

NAILSTONE NEWBOLD VERDON OSBASTON RATBY

SHEEPY MAGNA STANTON UNDER BARDON STOKE GOLDING THORNTON

TWYCROSS WITHERLEY

121

91

75

72

28

27

24

22

18

16

13

12

9

5

4

4

3

2

2

2

1

1

HINCKLEY

BURBAGE

EARL SHILTON

BARWELL

NEWBOLD VERDON

RATBY

DESFORD

GROBY

THORNTON

BARLESTONE

MARKET…

MARKFIELD

STOKE GOLDING

STANTON UNDER…

BARTON IN THE…

OSBASTON

WITHERLEY

NAILSTONE

BAGWORTH

TWYCROSS

HIGHAM ON THE…

SHEEPY MAGNA

Total Damp & Mould by Area Since September 2022

Envirovent Fans Loft Insulation Mould Treatments Rake Out Brickw... Vents & Airbricks

Page 67



 

 

14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Housing Complaints 2022 -2023 

 

During the year 2022 -2023 the Housing service received 52 Stage 1 formal 

complaints and 9 Stage 2 complaints. Informal complaints are not considered for the 

purpose of this review.  

Complaints received by housing team 

Housing Repairs and Tenancy Management/ASB received the highest number of 

complaints by service area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Frequency of complaints 

The Housing Service received most complaints int the months of August and March. 

April and June had the lowest number of complaints reported.  

 

 

 

  

Page 69



Nature of complaints 

Service level was the highest reason for a complaint, with almost 75% of complaints 

being based solely on services received from the council. 16% of complaints 

focussed on individual officers, with the remaining having issues with both the 

service and the officer involved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcomes of Stage 1 complaints 

Over 57% of formal complaints were not upheld and did not show a shortfall in 

service or officer performance. Only 14 complaints were fully upheld during the year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 70



Stage 2 Complaints 

There were 9 complaints that were escalated to Stage 2 throughout 2022 – 2023, 

with the highest proportion coming from Tenancy management and ASB. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key comments from complaints 

The following are key broad topics complained about: 

 Officer attitude 

 Repair time/quality of repair 

 Informal complaints/ Queries not being acted on by Tenancy 
Management/ASB 

 Appointments being cancelled/rearranged – Repairs 

 Poor communication 

 Unhappy with decisions 

Complaint handling process 

Improvements regarding the general management and standardisation of all 
complaints is a priority for the housing service. The service will also be looking to 
implement processes in relation to continuous learning, to ensure that any areas of 
improvement are considered by each service area.  Further work is under way to 
develop process into the management and recording of informal complaints.  

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Landlord complaints – briefing note 

 

Changes we will implement from 1 April (in advance of new policy being 

agreed) 

 

General 

• An individual doesn’t have to use the word “complaint” for it to be treated as 

such 

• Whenever an individual expresses dissatisfaction, even if it is in relation to a 

service request which is ongoing, we must ask them whether they wish to 

make a complaint 

• When issuing a survey, we should include information on how to complain 

• Complaints must be able to be raised by any means, and with any member of 

staff (which means if a caller wishes to make a complaint, the member of staff 

taking the call must take the complaint at that point) 

• We must not refuse to accept a complaint or escalate a complaint unless we 

have valid reason. Currently this relates to those reasons set out in the 

current complaints process, however the new policy will be in line with the 

code 

• We must give a complainant the opportunity to have a representative or be 

accompanied at any meeting (I have included something in the policy 

reserving the right to refuse to deal with a representative who has restrictions 

placed on them through the persistent & unreasonable complainant policy or 

other restrictions) 

• We must not have ‘informal complaints’ as that adds an extra stage – if 

someone wishes to complain, it must be handled at stage 1 

• If we use a third party / contractor to provide a service, any complaints they 

deal with on our behalf must comply with the code and must form part of the 

two-stage process 

• We must make reasonable adjustments and keep a record of them, as well as 

any disabilities disclosed, and we must keep them under review. The 

complaints team will need to work with you to ensure we record this 

information if you have it on file already 

• A record of all correspondence with the complainant or with other parties 

about the complaint must be kept. We will do this by using sharepoint so you 

can add any correspondence you have that we have not been included in to 

the complaint file 

• Responses to complaints about us as landlord must be in writing, even if the 

complainant has asked to be informed by telephone etc, the HOS will need to 

see something documented – we can discuss how to do this if the occasion 

arises 

• Landlords should handle enquiries from MPs or councillors in the same way it 

would handle contact made by a resident. If an MP or councillor enquiry is 

Page 73



received and the file shows a previous contact or complaint from the resident 

about the matter, it should be taken as an indication they remain dissatisfied 

and we should contact the complainant to explore the reason they remain 

dissatisfied and ask whether they would like it to be investigated as a 

complaint / escalated to stage 2. We can still respond to the MP/councillor to 

explain what action has been taken 

• If the responding officer speaks to the complainant during the course of the 

investigation and the complainant decides they do not wish to pursue the 

complaint, the complaints team will require evidence of this. 

 

Stage 1 complaints 

• The complaints team must set out their understanding of the complaint and 

agree this “complaint definition” and the outcomes they are seeking with the 

complainant at the outset – this definition must then be included in the 

complaint response at both stages 

• If the officer responding to a complaint is not going to be able to respond by 

the deadline, we must inform the complainant as early as possible, providing 

reasons for needing an extension (annual leave, illness and workload are not 

acceptable reasons as the HOS expects complaint handling to be sufficiently 

resourced to prevent this from being an issue), agreeing timescales for 

keeping them informed and giving them details of the HOS at that point 

• Extensions to the deadline for a response cannot be longer than ten working 

days 

• Until the new policy is approved, the deadline for a response will remain at ten 

working days from receipt of the complaint (in the new policy, this will be 

extended to ten working days from the date of acknowledgement, and we will 

have five working days to acknowledge) 

• We must provide a response when the outcome to the complaint is known, 

not when the outstanding actions are complete 

• Additional complaints raised during the investigation must be incorporated into 

the stage 1 if they are related 

• The stage 1 response must include: 

• The complaint stage 

• The “definition” of the complaint 

• The decision 

• Reasons for the decision 

• Details of the remedy 

• Any outstanding actions 

• How to escalate to stage 2 

 

Stage 2 complaints 

• The complainant doesn’t have to explain why they are requesting escalation 

to stage 2, but we will make reasonable efforts to understand why they remain 

unhappy 

Page 74



• If the officer responding to a complaint is not going to be able to respond by 

the deadline, we must inform the complainant as early as possible, providing 

reasons for needing an extension (annual leave, illness and workload are not 

acceptable reasons as the HOS expects complaint handling to be sufficiently 

resourced to prevent this from being an issue), agreeing timescales for 

keeping them informed and giving them details of the HOS at that point 

• Extensions to the deadline for a response cannot be longer than ten working 

days 

• Until the new policy is approved, the deadline for a stage 2 response will 

remain at ten working days from receipt of the complaint (in the new policy, 

this will be extended to ten or twenty working days from the date of 

acknowledgement, and we will have five working days to acknowledge) 

• The stage 2 response must include: 

o The complaint stage 

o The “definition” of the complaint 

o The decision 

o Reasons for the decision 

o Details of the remedy 

o Any outstanding actions 

o How to complaint to the HOS 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIEFING NOTE 

 

 

Housing Service- Tenant Involvement Update 

The Service Development Team have worked to establish tenant involvement after 

the pandemic diminished most existing methods of engagement. In the last 12 

months, the team along with the support of housing colleagues has: 

 Launched a new tenant newsletter, ‘housing hub’ which is sent every 6 months. 3 

issues have been sent in the new format. 

 Launched a tenants newsletter, ‘Chatter’ for those tenants in residence across 

our sheltered housing schemes. 

 Hosted a meet and greet for tenants to meet the team and chat about tenant 

involvement in an informal setting. 

 Developed a new tenant portal called ‘MyHousing’ for tenants to view their rent 

and manage their personal data online. 

 Hosted 4 drop in events for tenants, with a primary focus on dealing with damp 

and mould. Other opportunities to speak to tenancy management, private sector 

housing, housing repairs and tenant involvement were available. 

 Assisted with 2 consultations, hosting information events for tenants to ‘drop in’. 

 Consulted with tenants on one revised policy and one revised specification of 

work which are now in place. 

 Supported 2 cost of living events and donated a raffle prize to older persons day. 

 Created 6 roles for tenant involvement opportunities and recruited to those posts. 

 Recruitment of 172 tenants into tenant involvement opportunities. Our involved 

tenants will respond to opportunities as they arise and take part in what interests 

them. 

 Hosted a pop up event for Housing colleagues to learn about the new Consumer 

Standards from the Social Housing Regulator. 

 

Tenant Scrutiny 

Having built a strong foundation for tenant involvement to grow further, we have 

successfully recruited new members to our Tenant Influence and Scrutiny Panel. 

Plans to refresh our Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Strategy will take place 

later this year as a co-creation exercise with the panel.  

 

 

 

 

Page 77



Appendix 1 

Tenant Involvement Roles: 

Reading Panel - receive policies, documents, letters, and early access to web 

pages to provide feedback on the content. These are communications that will be 

used by officers to speak to our tenants, so you will be helping us to make sure that 

the language used, and the tone is appropriate and helpful, whilst delivering our 

services. This role is carried out in your own time, from home. 

Editorial Panel – Housing Hub - be part of a team who choose topics or provide 

images and content for our 6 monthly Housing Hub Tenants Newsletter. This role is 

carried out in your own time, from home. 

Neighbourhood Champions - someone who can help promote tenant involvement 

activities in their neighbourhood. This can be a range of activities from assisting with 

events we hold, and encouraging others such as your neighbours, to join in. This role 

will vary depending on your neighbourhood, some aspects may be online, and some 

may be in community centres or local meet ups. 

Customer Experience Champion - A really important role where you will receive 

training and support to advocate for tenants who need help to provide feedback or 

raise concerns with the council. You could be helping with awareness of all the 

different ways someone can make a compliment or complaint to us, you may also 

get more involved by supporting another tenant directly with their complaint or 

concern. There will be a meeting twice a year, to review housing complaints, and 

what was done about them. This is a key role in scrutinising how we handle 

complaints, to ensure that we are fair in our response and that we are doing 

everything we can to put things right. This role will vary as some aspects may be by 

phone, in person, or online.  

Tenant Influence and Scrutiny Panel - Become a member of our new Scrutiny 

Panel, where you'll get involved in inspecting and giving feedback on the housing 

service. The Scrutiny Panel will meet every 3 months, it will either be online or in 

person - depending on the consensus of the group. You'll have the opportunity to 

receive training and have plenty of support from our team.  

Void Property Inspector - Visit void (empty) properties with staff to inspect and 

ensure they meet the standards and provide feedback. This will take place in the 

daytime, for approximately 2 hours per month, we can provide transport to and from 

the empty property and we will meet you there to inspect the property with you. 

 

 

 

Page 78



- 132 - 

 HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

FINANCE & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY 
 

18 MARCH 2024 AT 6.30 PM 
 
PRESENT: Cllr MJ Surtees - Chair 
 Cllr P Williams – Vice-Chair 
Cllr LJ Mullaney, Cllr H Smith, Cllr P Stead-Davis, Cllr A Weightman and 
Cllr M Simmons 
 
Also in attendance:   
 
Officers in attendance: Julie Kenny, Caroline Roffey, Rebecca Valentine-
Wilkinson and Ashley Wilson 
 

309. Apologies and substitutions  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Cope, Glenville 
and Sutton, with the following substitutions authorised in accordance with council 
procedure rule 10: 
 
Councillor Simmons for Councillor Sutton. 
 

310. Minutes of previous meeting  
 
A member identified that the word fee was missing from paragraph 223, this 
should now read: 
 

- The leisure centre was exploring installation of solar panels and their 
management fee may be reduced to support this expenditure. 

 
It was moved by Councillor Williams, seconded by Councillor Stead-Davies and 
 
  RESOLVED – the minutes of the meeting held on 18 December  
  2023 be confirmed subject to the above mentioned amendment. 
 

311. Declarations of interest  
 
There were no interests declared at this meeting. 

 
312. Front line Service Review: Street Scene Services  

 
Members were updated on the street scene activity for the financial year 
2023/2024 to date, which included waste management, green spaces, clean 
neighbourhoods and car parks. 
 
In response to questions from members around food and trade waste collections, 
electric vehicles, garden waste and car park income, it was confirmed that: 
 

 Separate weekly food waste collections for all households would need to 
be in place by 31 March 2026 and equipment required for this collection 

Page 79

Agenda Item 11



 

- 133 - 

would be a small caddy for indoors and a large container with a lockable 
top for outside 

 5 electric vehicles were included in the new electric fleet and included 
within this was one corsa, two housing repair vans that were being 
charged at home, and cage tippers for the Clean Neighbourhoods Team. It 
was also confirmed that all of these vehicles were now operating well 
without issue 

 Although participation in the garden waste service remained high, the 
income collected did not fully cover the cost of the service. An estimated 
additional income of £180,000 was expected whilst the overall loss was 
£250,000 

 Trade waste collections were forecasted to generate £590,000 income and 
this service generated a profit for the council  

 An operational review within the department had been undertaken to 
achieve efficiencies where possible and this was still work in progress. 

 Car park income had increased as a result of more occupancy as people 
had returned to the high street. 

 
Members noted the report. 
 

313. Performance & Risk Management Framework 3rd quarter summary 2023/24  
 
Members were provided with the third quarter summary for 2023/24 for 
performance indicators, service improvement plans, corporate risks and service 
area risks. 
 
In response to a question from members around the performance indicators for 
absence related work stress that was currently performing better than target,  
officers confirmed that they could break down this figure to work and non-related 
work stress issues for future reports to enable further discussions. Officers also 
confirmed that the council had a comprehensive employee assistance 
programme which was a useful tool to keep people in the workplace in place in 
addition to promoting health and well-being across the authority. 
 
In response to a further question from members around the loss of rent due to 
void turnarounds, officers agreed to provide the average number of housing void 
properties outside of the meeting. 
 
Members noted the report. 
 

314. Treasury Management Quarter 3  
 
Members were presented with the council’s treasury management activity in the 
third quarter of 2023/24. 
 
In response to a question from members around the economic background and 
the quarter that ended 31 December 2023 that saw a sharp fall in wage growth in 
September and October to 7.2%. Officers confirmed that the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS) had used the “experimental rate” of unemployment at that time 
that had remained at a low 4.2% and agreed to insert the ONS definition of the 
“experimental rate” to give clarity in the next quarterly report. 
 

Page 80



 

- 134 - 

Members noted the report. 
 

315. Financial outturn quarter 3  
 
Members were presented with the financial outturn position as at December 
2023. 
 
In response to a question from members around the major service variations and 
the £60k outturn variance for Economic Development for the spend related to the 
Hinckley Rail Freight project, officers confirmed that they didn’t have the 
necessary details to hand as to whether the total amount had come directly or 
was from the applicant and agreed to come back to members with further details. 
 
In response to a question from members around the major service variation for 
Development Control/Planning and the increase in planning application fees, it 
was confirmed that the increase in total had been around £75,000. 
 
In response to a question from members about the crematorium it was confirmed 
that the crematorium was a general fund project and therefore all costs related to 
this would come from the general fund budget. 
 
Members noted the report. 
 

316. Sundry Debts Quarter 3  
 
Members were informed on the current aged debt position as at 31 December 
2023. 
 
In response to a question from members around current debt and whether the 
council was likely to get it all back, it was confirmed that £94,000 was the long 
term potential risk of non-recovery. Although this did not include Homelessness 
Bonds which were fully provided due to the nature of the debts involved. 
 
Members noted the report. 
 

317. Finance & Performance Scrutiny Work Programme  
 
Members noted the work programme. 
 
 

(The Meeting closed at 7.19 pm) 
 
 
 
 

  CHAIR 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

HOUSING TASK & FINISH GROUP 
 

14 MARCH 2024 AT 12.00 PM 
 
PRESENT: Cllr MJ Crooks, Cllr C Gibbens, Cllr C Harris, Cllr C Lambert, 

Cllr MJ Surtees and Cllr P Williams 
 
Officers in attendance: Valerie Bunting, Rebecca Owen and Sharon Stacey 
 

1. Appointment of chair  
 
It was moved by Councillor Lambert, seconded by Councillor Williams and 
 

RESOLVED – Councillor Crooks be appointed chair of the task & 
finish group. 

 
2. Declarations of interest  

 
Councillor Williams declared that his wife owned a rental property. 
 

3. Terms of reference  
 
The terms of reference were agreed. 
 

4. Approach to the review  
 
During discussion, the following points were made: 
 

 Homelessness was one of the biggest issues – information on reasons 
were contained within the briefing note that had been circulated 

 Change sin the private rented sector had had an impact on homelessness 

 It was important to look at how different sectors of the community 
accessed housing 

 Development of new affordable housing was increasingly difficult due to 
issues with delivery on S106 sites 

 Investigation into the number of people in housing need but not eligible to 
be on the housing register was required 

 Most people now being allocated housing had a series of needs, not just a 
housing need 

 The number of empty properties needed to be understood and minimised 

 There was concern over the lack of regulation of private landlords 

 Information on why private landlords in the borough had sold their 
properties would be useful 

 The council did not have an Empty Homes Officer but work was picked up 
by the Private Sector Housing team 

 The right to buy scheme meant loss of council properties for a portion of 
the property value, and the government should be lobbied to consider 
amending the scheme 

Page 83

Agenda Item 12



 

- 2 - 

 The council’s development company could be used to build properties but 
it may not be possible to apply local connection criteria to future 
occupation. 

 
5. Agenda and information required for next meeting  

 
The following was agreed for the next meeting: 
 

 Rosemary Leach from Private Sector Housing would be invited to talk 
about the work of the team in relation to empty homes 

 Valerie would provide information from the housing needs study on the 
private rented sector 

 Councillor Williams would look at the last two censuses to examine the 
changes 

 Becky would seek information on the impact of changes to regulations 
relating to council tax for empty properties. 

 
It was suggested that letting agents be invited to a future meeting, and Councillor 
Lambert offered to prepare some work on empty council homes. 
 

6. Date of the next meeting  
 
It was agreed that the next meeting would take place on Wednesday, 8 May at 
12pm. 
 
 

(The Meeting closed at 1.18 pm) 
 
 
 
 

  CHAIR 
 
 

Page 84


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Scrutiny Commission Work Programme
	8 Parish & Hinckley Community Initiative Fund allocation of grants 2023/24
	9 Environmental Improvement Programme 2024-25
	Appendix1-EIPProjects 2024-25
	Appendix2-EIPProgressReport 2023-24
	Appendix3-EIPPhotographs 2024

	10 Social Housing Regulation update - compliance and performance
	Appendix A Consumer Standards self assessmen- action Plan 23-24
	Appendix B Briefing note TSMs
	Appendix C An approach to Damp and Mould within Council Housing Properties
	Appendix D Complaint Review
	Appendix E Landlord complaints – briefing note
	Landlord complaints – briefing note
	Changes we will implement from 1 April (in advance of new policy being agreed)


	Appendix F Briefing Note Tenant Involvement and roles

	11 Minutes of Finance & Performance Scrutiny
	12 Minutes of the Housing Task & Finish Group

